

LUND UNIVERSITY

Unilateral Vestibular loss: Aspects on treatment and compensation mechanisms

Sjögren, Julia

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Sjögren, J. (2025). *Unilateral Vestibular loss: Aspects on treatment and compensation mechanisms*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Unilateral vestibular loss

Aspects on treatment and compensation mechanisms

JULIA SJÖGREN

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





JULIA SJÖGREN is an otorhinolaryngologist at the Department of Otorhinolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery at Skåne University Hospital, Sweden. Her doctoral thesis explores the treatment of acute unilateral vestibulopathy and the compensatory mechanisms that follow.

> Department of Clinical Sciences Otorhinolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2025:73 ISBN 978-91-8021-726-2 ISSN 1652-8220







Unilateral vestibular loss

Aspects on treatment and compensation mechanisms

Julia Sjögren



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be publicly defended at Palaestra et Odeum, Paradisgatan 4, Lund, Sweden, on the 19th of June 2025, 8.15 a.m.

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Raymond van de Berg

Supervisors Associate professor Fredrik Tjernström Associate professor Per-Anders Fransson Associate professor Mikael Karlberg

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Author(s): JULIA SJÖGREN

Date of issue: 19 June 2025

Sponsoring organization:

Title: Unilateral vestibular loss - Aspects on treatment and compensation mechanisms

Abstract:

Background: Acute unilateral vestibulopathy (AUVP) or vestibular neuritis, is a common cause for acute dizziness and entails a sudden loss of vestibular function, leading to vertigo, postural imbalance, and impaired visual stability during movement. The treatment for the condition has not been fully established. Corticosteroids have been widely used to promote recovery but their effectiveness remains controversial. Compensation after a vestibular loss involves both peripheral functional recovery and central compensation processes, including the generation of corrective saccades to improve gaze stability during motion. However, the relationship between these mechanisms and subjective recovery is still not fully understood.

Aims: To investigate the effect of corticosteroid treatment and mechanisms of vestibular compensation

Methods: Paper I was a retrospective case-series comparing caloric recovery when treated within 24 hours versus 25–72 hours after AUVP onset. Paper II was a randomized controlled trial evaluating the effect of corticosteroids on vestibular recovery (caloric test, video head impulse test (vHIT)) and symptoms (Likert scale, Dizziness Handicap Inventory (DHI), Hospital Anexiety and Depression Scale (HADS)) up to one year. Papers III and IV were prospective experimental studies assessing the impact of active versus passive head movements on visual performance and saccadic properties using vHIT and functional Head impulse test (fHIT) in patients with complete unilateral vestibular loss. Paper V was a prospective longitudinal study evaluating vestibular recovery and saccadic characteristics with vHIT from onset to one year after AUVP.

Results: Early corticosteroid treatment within 24 hours of AUVP onset was associated with better caloric recovery (p<0.05; Paper I); however, in the randomized controlled trial (Paper II), no significant benefit of corticosteroids over placebo was observed in either vestibular function recovery or symptom relief. Active head impulses improved visual performance (p=0.002) and triggered earlier covert saccades (p=0.004) compared to passive movements. The eye position error at the time of the visual task was closely associated to the saccade latency (r=0.915, p<0.001) in patients with complete unilateral vestibular loss (Papers III & IV). Over 12 months, VOR gain improved (p<0.001) - most notably within the first 3 months (p<0.001) - while both covert (p=0.005) and overt (p<0.001) saccades decreased. Covert saccade characteristics remained stable and were not associated with subjective symptoms (Paper V).

Conclusions: Vestibular function improved significantly after AUVP, especially within the first three months. Corticosteroid treatment did not improve recovery, nor did it reduce symptoms in the short or long term. Active head movements generated short-latency covert saccades and reduced the positional error between the eye and head, which may explain the near-normal visual performance despite complete unilateral vestibular loss. In contrast, passive head movements triggered covert saccades that did not adapt over time and remained closely associated with persistent vestibular hypofunction up to one year after AUVP.

Key words: unilateral vestibular loss, vestibular neuritis, acute unilateral vestibulopathy, AUVP, corrective saccades, covert saccades, active and passive head movement

Language ENGLISH

Number of pages:87

ISBN: 978-91-8021-726-2

ISSN and key title: 1652-8220

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Unilateral vestibular loss

Aspects on treatment and compensation mechanisms

Julia Sjögren



Cover illustration by Matthew Burne Illustrations in the thesis by Magdalena Karnebäck Author portrait by Sabine Swoboda

Copyright pp 1-87 Julia Sjögren

Paper 1 © Otology & Neurotology Paper 2 © Frontiers of Neurology Paper 3 © Frontiers of Neurology Paper 4© Journal of Vestibular Research Paper 5 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Otorhinolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery

ISBN 978-91-8021-726-2 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

Till mamma och pappa

Table of Contents

Papers included in this thesis	11
Thesis at a glance	12
Abbreviations	14
Introduction	15
Background	16
What is balance?	16
The vestibular system	16
The oculomotor system and the vestibulo-ocular reflex	
Acute unilateral vestibulopathy	
Terminology	
Epidemiology	
Etiology	
Diagnosing acute unilateral vestibulopathy	
Measuring vestibular function	
The caloric test	
The video head impulse test	
The functional Head impulse test Self-perceived dizziness	
<u>^</u>	
Vestibular recovery and compensation Vestibular recovery	
Compensation of static symptoms	
Compensation of dynamic symptoms	
Treatment of Acute unilateral vestibulopathy	
Antiemetic treatment	
Corticosteroid treatment	
Vestibular rehabilitation	
Some knowledge gaps and research questions	39
Aims	40
Methods	41

Study populations	41
The caloric test	42
video Head Impulse Test	42
functional Head Impulse Test	43
Self-rated symptoms and questionnaires	44
Adverse events	44
Data analysis in custom-made Labview software	44
Statistical methods	46
Ethical considerations	46
Investigations and results	47
Paper I	47
Paper II	48
Paper III	50
Paper IV	52
Paper V	54
Discussion	56
Corticosteroid treatment for AUVP?	56
Corrective saccades compensate for a disrupted VOR in self-generated	
movements	59
Vestibular recovery and compensation after AUVP	
What triggers covert saccades?	61
Methodological considerations	64
Future perspectives	66
Conclusions	67
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	68
Acknowledgements	71
References	73

Papers included in this thesis

I: Steroids for Acute Vestibular Neuronitis-the Earlier the Treatment, the Better the Outcome? Julia Sjögren, Måns Magnusson, Fredrik Tjernström, and Mikael Karlberg. Otology and Neurotology; 40:372-374, 2019.

II: Acute unilateral vestibulopathy and corticosteroid treatment - A randomized placebo-controlled double-blind trial. Julia Sjögren, Per-Anders Fransson, Måns Magnusson, Mikael Karlberg, Fredrik Tjernström. Journal of Vestibular Research; 35:91-101, 2025.

III: Functional Head Impulse Testing Might Be Useful for Assessing Vestibular Compensation After Unilateral Vestibular Loss, Julia Sjögren, Per-Anders Fransson, Mikael Karlberg, Måns Magnusson and Fredrik Tjernström. Frontiers in Neurology; 9:1-7, 2018.

IV: Short-latency covert saccades - the explanation for good dynamic visual acuity after unilateral vestibular loss? Julia Sjögren, Mikael Karlberg, Craig Hickson, Måns Magnusson, Per-Anders Fransson and Fredrik Tjernström. Frontiers in Neurology; 12:1-12, 2021.

V: Vestibular recovery and Central Compensation After Acute Unilateral Vestibulopathy. Julia Sjögren, Per-Anders Fransson, Måns Magnusson, Mikael Karlberg, and Fredrik Tjernström. Manuscript.

¹⁷ Thesis at a glance

Conclusion	Treatment within 24 hours in AUVP improves vestibular recovery	Corticosteroid treatment does not improve caloric function, vHIT gain, or subjective well-being in patients with AUVP.	Active head movements yield near-normal visual performance and reduce latencies of the covert saccades.
Teaser	Unidensi weskness (%)	Cuto Expension (1) (short expension (2) (short expe	(/) wose Thil (/) wose (/) work (/) wo
Main results	Retrospective cohort of 33 All patients treated within 24 hours patients with AUVP treated with showed normal caloric test results at corticosteroids within 72 hours 3-month follow-up, compared to 58% from disorder onset. Caloric test of those treated between 25–72 hours after 3 months. $(p < 0.05)$.	All groups showed significant improvement in caloric function over time (p=0.002), with no significant c differences between groups (p=0.629). Secondary outcomes showed no significant group differences.	Active ipsilesional head impulses significantly improved visual performance (p=0.002) and reduced the latencies of the covert saccades (p=0.004).
Method	Retrospective cohort of 33 patients with AUVP treated with corticosteroids within 72 hours from disorder onset. Caloric test after 3 months.	A double-blind RCT including All groups showed significar 69 AUVP patients randomized improvement in caloric funct to placebo, 3-day, or 10-day time (p=0.002), with no signi corticosteroid treatment. Caloric differences between groups test (primary outcome), vHIT, (p=0.629). Secondary outco vertigo score, DHI, HADS from showed no significant group onset up to 12 months.	Cross-sectional experimental study on 9 patients with complete unilateral vestibular loss. vHIT and fHIT during both passive and active head movements.
Aim	To evaluate if an early start of treatment with corticosteroids in patients with AUVP increases the recovery of vestibular function.	To evaluate if corticosteroid treatment enhances recovery of vestibular function and reduce symptoms in the acute and chronic phase of AUVP.	III To evaluate how the VOR, covert saccades and visual performance are influenced by active and passive head movements.



Abbreviations

AICA	Anterior inferior cerebellar artery
AUVP	Acute unilateral vestibulopathy
AVS	Acute vestibular syndrome
BPPV	Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo
COR	Cervical ocular reflex
DHI	Dizziness handicap inventory
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
HADS	Hospital anxiety and depression scale
fHIT	functional head-impulse test
HINTS	Head Impulse, nystagmus, test of skew
HIT	Head-impulse test
HITD-FT	Head impulse test-functional device
LARP	Left anterior right posterior
MLF	Medial longitudinal fasciculus
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
PET	Positron Emission Tomography
RALP	Right anterior left posterior
SCC	Semicircular canals
UVL	Unilateral vestibular loss
vHIT	video head-impulse test
VOR	Vestibulo-ocular reflex
VCR	Vestibulo-collic reflex
VNC	Vestibular nuclear complex
VSR	Vestibulospinal reflex

Introduction

The vestibular system was one of the first sensory system to emerge in evolution, with evidence of its presence found in fossils of agnathan fish species dating back 400 million years¹. The balance organ was first described in the mid-19th century². Robert Bárány developed the caloric test to assess the vestibular function, an achievement for which he was awarded the Nobel Prize in 1909. During 80 years the caloric test was used to assess the function of the lateral semicircular canal, one out of five parts of the vestibular organ².

In 1988, Michael Halmagyi and Ian Curthoys introduced the head-impulse test — a simple bedside examination capable of detecting deficits in all three semi-circular canals³. In 2009, Halmagyi and Curthoys introduced the video head-impulse test (vHIT), allowing for non-invasive, reliable evaluation of each of the six semicircular canals⁴. Today, vHIT is widely used in specialized clinics around the world, representing a significant advancement in the clinical assessment of vestibular function.

Our capacity to fully evaluate and understand the vestibular function has thus only emerged in recent decades — and the insights gained from these new diagnostic methods continue to reveal complexities that are not yet fully understood. Meanwhile, symptoms of dizziness and vertigo are highly prevalent; 15% of adults report dizziness within the past year⁵ and about 3% of all emergency department visits in Sweden and globally by adults are due to dizziness^{6,7}.

The need for more effective treatment strategies for vestibular disorders is clear. Vertigo remains the leading cause of sick leave and hospitalization among audiovestibular conditions⁸. In addition, vestibular hypofunction is a major contributor to impaired balance and is a significant risk factor for falls in the elderly⁹. ¹⁰. Approximately one-third of individuals aged 65 and older experience at least one fall per year¹¹ and fall-related injuries are the most common cause of hospital admissions, emergency department visits, and fatalities among older adults in Sweden¹².

The overall aim of this thesis was to enhance the treatment of acute unilateral vestibulopathy and to deepen our understanding of the compensatory mechanisms that occur following unilateral vestibular loss.

Background

What is balance?

Balance refers to the ability to remain in a stable upright position due to an equilibrium between all the forces on the body¹³. Balance is maintained through a sophisticated sensorimotor control system that relies on sensory input from vision, the vestibular system, and somatosensory input from the skin, joints and muscles. The vestibular system detects how the head moves in relation to the space around it, visual input detects head movement relative to the surrounding environment, and somatosensory input registers limb movement relative to the support surface or other body parts. This sensory information is integrated by the nervous system, through a process called multisensory integration, which then sends motor commands to the muscles of the eyes and body to support posture and stability¹⁴. A disruption to one or several of the sensory cues may impair balance.

The vestibular system

The peripheral vestibular organs, located in each inner ear, consist of five sensory organs: three semicircular canals and two otolith organs (Figure 1). The semicircular canals detect rotational (angular) acceleration/deceleration head movements in three dimensions, triggered by either self-induced movements (active movements) or external forces (passive movements). In contrast, the otolith organs sense linear acceleration and head tilt relative to gravity.



Figure 1. The inner ear; the cochlea and the vestibular system, which includes five sensory organs: three SCCs (anterior, horizontal, posterior) and two otolith organs (utricle and saccule). Vestibular sensory input is transduced by type I and type II hair cells located in the cristae. These cells convert mechanical displacement into electrical signals through deflection of stereocilia relative to the kinocilium.

The three SCCs; the anterior canal (or superior), the lateral (or horizontal) and the posterior (or inferior) canal act like miniature gyroscopes. Because of their orthogonal orientation to each other, they register motion in three dimensions and thereby provide the brain with sensory feedback about the head's rotation. The six semicircular canals make up three functional pairs; the lateral canal pair that detect acceleration in the yaw plane, turning the head from side to side. The right anterior canal and the left posterior canal (RALP) and the left anterior and the right posterior canal (LARP) detect acceleration in planes, which are approximately 45° to the sagittal plane of the head¹⁵ (Figure 2). A displacement of the endolymph within a semicircular canal (SCC) occurs during head rotations in a specific plane that closely aligns with, but is not necessarily identical to, the anatomical plane of the SCC¹⁶. When one canal is maximally stimulated on one side of the head, the matching canal in the pair on the other side of the head is maximally inhibited. The acceleration of a rotation in any plane is perceived by the sensory epithelium in the cristae, located in the ampullae of the three semicircular ducts.

Vestibular hair cells are the primary motion sensors of the vestibular system, converting mechanical displacement into electrical signals. There are two types: goblet-shaped type I cells, surrounded by a large calyx nerve terminal, and columnar type II cells, connected via smaller bouton-shaped terminals. Type I cells respond to stronger stimuli, while type II cells are more sensitive to weaker inputs, though both share similar response mechanisms¹⁷. Each hair cell has a bundle of 40–200 stereocilia and one taller kinocilium, embedded in the cupula or otolithic membrane (Figure 1). Deflection of stereocilia toward the kinocilium depolarizes the cell, increasing glutamate release and stimulating vestibular afferents; deflection away causes inhibition. Hair cells also exhibit spontaneous activity, modulated by sensory input¹⁸.

Vestibular nerve

The vestibular nerve, together with the auditory nerve, forms the 8th cranial nerve (n. vestibulocochlearis) and connects the vestibular organs to the brain. Its axons synapse at the bases of hair cells in the cristae of the semicircular canals (SCC) and the maculae of the otolith organs. These fibers pass through the internal acoustic meatus and enter the brainstem at the pontomedullary junction, primarily projecting to the ipsilateral vestibular nuclei, with some projections to the cerebellar flocculo-nodular lobe and vermis. The cell bodies reside in Scarpa's ganglion, located near the fundus of the internal auditory meatus, and are divided into superior and inferior branches. The superior branch innervates the lateral and anterior SCC ampullae and the utricle, while the inferior branch serves the posterior SCC and the saccule¹⁹. The bony canals carrying the superior branch are longer and narrower than those of the inferior branch²⁰. The vestibulocochlear nerve primarily consists of afferent fibers forming two main pathways: a regular (tonic) pathway, mediated by type II hair cells, which encodes eye velocity via slow-conducting, regularly discharging axons;



Figure 2. The six SCCs form three functional pairs: the lateral canals detect yaw plane acceleration (side-to-side head turns), while the right anterior–left posterior (RALP) and left anterior–right posterior (LARP) pairs detect rotational acceleration in planes approximately 45° to the sagittal plane of the head.

and an irregular (phasic) pathway, mediated by type I hair cells, characterized by fast-conducting, irregularly discharging axons sensitive to head acceleration, enabling rapid responses^{21, 22}. A small portion of the vestibular nerve consists of efferent fibers originating in the brainstem, their role is not yet fully understood. It is generally believed that both animals and humans must differentiate between sensory input generated by their own movements and sensory signals originating from external stimuli. This distinction is thought to be achieved through an efference copy mechanism, in which a duplicate of the motor command is transmitted to sensory structures, allowing the brain to predict and filter out self-generated motion signals²³.

The inner ear's blood supply comes solely from the labyrinthine artery, typically branching from the Anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA) or directly from the Basilar artery, it has no collateral circulation²⁴ and is highly susceptible to ischemia; blood flow interruption for more than eight minutes can cause permanent nerve damage²⁵.

Central processing of vestibular information

Vestibular afferents primarily project to the vestibular nuclear complex (VNC) and the cerebellum. The VNC serves as the main integrator, rapidly processing vestibular signals for motor output such as eye movements, while the cerebellum acts as an adaptive processor, recalibrating vestibular responses. Both structures integrate vestibular, somatosensory, and visual input to maintain spatial orientation and coordinated movement²⁶.

The VNC comprises four main nuclei—medial, superior, lateral, and inferior extending from the caudal pons to the rostral medulla in two columns beneath the fourth ventricle²⁷. The medial vestibular nucleus receives input from the horizontal semicircular canals and projects via the medial longitudinal fasciculus (MLF) to ipsilateral and contralateral extraocular motor nuclei, supporting the vestibuloocular reflex (VOR), as well as to the spinal cord for vestibulospinal reflexes. The superior vestibular nucleus receives input from the superior and posterior canals and also projects via the MLF to extraocular muscles, contributing to VOR control. The lateral nucleus integrates input from all vestibular organs and the cerebellum, with descending projections forming the lateral vestibulospinal tract, essential for regulating trunk posture and limb extension. The inferior nucleus receives input from the utricle and saccule and projects to other vestibular nuclei and the cerebellum^{27, 28}. Commissural fibers connect the vestibular nuclei bilaterally, enabling integration across hemispheres.

The oculomotor system and the vestibulo-ocular reflex

The oculomotor system maintains visual stability and directs eye movements, especially toward the fovea, the retina's high-acuity region. It involves six extraocular muscles controlled by three cranial nerves, which connect to brainstem nuclei and premotor circuits. These circuits coordinate five eye movement systems: optokinetic, smooth pursuit, saccadic, vergence, and the VOR. The optokinetic reflex stabilizes vision during sustained motion; smooth pursuit tracks slow-moving targets; saccades produce rapid, voluntary gaze shifts; vergence adjusts eye alignment for depth; and the VOR uses vestibular input to maintain fixation during head movements.

The VOR stabilizes gaze during head rotations by generating compensatory eye movements in the direction opposite to the head movement. When the head rotates, the endolymph within the SCCs is displaced, deflecting the cupula. This stimulates the hair cells embedded within the cupula. It is likely the activation of the very fast type I receptors that triggers action potentials in the irregular, excitatory afferents, which project to the vestibular nuclei in the brainstem²⁹. From the vestibular nuclei, excitatory and inhibitory signals are transmitted to the oculomotor and abducens

nuclei, which then activate and inhibit the appropriate extraocular muscles, generating an eye movement in the opposite direction of the head movement²⁶ (Figure 3). This three-neuron arc allows for an exceptionally fast response, where the eyes begin to move approximately 8 ms after the head starts to rotate, ensuring visual stability even during rapid and unpredictable head movements³⁰. Additionally, neurons from one vestibular nucleus project across the vestibular commissure, delivering inhibitory signals to the contralateral vestibular nucleus during ipsilateral rotations. This reciprocal inhibition amplifies excitatory drive on the stimulated side while suppressing activity on the opposite side, enhancing directional signal clarity³¹.



Figure 3. Overview of the vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR) and its three-neuron arc. Head movement displaces endolymph in the semicircular canals, stimulating hair cells and triggering rapid signals via irregular afferents to the vestibular nuclei (first-order neuron). These signals are relayed to the oculomotor and abducens nuclei (second-order neurons), which then activate the appropriate extraocular muscles (third-order neurons) to generate compensatory eve movements.

Acute unilateral vestibulopathy

Acute unilateral vestibulopathy (AUVP), also known as vestibular neuritis, is a sudden loss of function in the peripheral vestibular system, affecting either the vestibular organs or the vestibular nerve, without any indications of central vestibular dysfunction, such as ischemic stroke or another lesion in the central nervous system.

Terminology

The first description of acute unilateral vestibulopathy (AUVP) was presented by B. Ruttin in 1908, who termed it "Neuritis vestibularis" based on a presumed inflammatory cause³². The terminology evolved over time: Nylén introduced "vestibular neuritis" in 1924, and Hallpike proposed "vestibular neuronitis" in 1949 to describe an inflammation that spares the cell bodies in the ganglia, affecting only the axons of the nerve cells. Both terms were based on an assumed inflammatory aetiology, which was later supported by histopathological studies. However, as definitive evidence of inflammation remained inconclusive, a more neutral terminology emerged, including "vestibular neuropathy," "vestibular failure," and ultimately "acute unilateral vestibulopathy". In April 2022, the Bàràny Society formally established the diagnostic criteria for AUVP, standardizing its classification³³.

Epidemiology

Due to inconsistent classification across countries and the recent establishment of international criteria in 2022, existing AUVP incidence data lack standardized epidemiological quality. Prior to standardization, reported annual incidence rates ranged from 3.5 to 15.5 per $100,000^{34,35}$. Post-2022 studies still rely on retrospective data not fully aligned with the new criteria. However, a Japanese study using vHIT reported an annual incidence of 7.05 per $100,000^{36}$, while a Norwegian study found a similar rate of 11.2 per $100,000^{37}$.

AUVP is the sixth most common cause of vertigo/dizziness and the third most prevalent peripheral vestibular disorder³⁸. There is no gender difference and it can develop at any age³⁶, though its peak incidence is around 40-50 years^{34, 35}. The hypothesis of neuritis or inflammation as the underlying cause of AUVP led to speculation about a seasonal correlation linked to viral spread within the population³⁹. However, more recent studies have failed to establish a clear association⁴⁰⁻⁴². Reports on AUVP recurrence vary widely, with estimates ranging from 1.9%⁴³ to 10.7%⁴⁴ and up to 23%⁴⁵. However, accurately measuring recurrence rates is challenging, as recurrent vertigo episodes may represent the first mono-

symptomatic manifestation of another peripheral vestibular disorder, such as Menière's disease or vestibular migraine. Additionally, the prevalence of BPPV following AUVP is elevated^{46, 47} and can mimic AUVP symptoms and clinical findings, particularly in cases of canalith jam, where otoconia obstructs the entire semicircular canal, causing a blockage of the endolymphatic flow⁴⁸.

Etiology

Three main hypotheses have been proposed for the cause of AUVP: viral reactivation, ischemia, and autoimmune response.

Several findings support the viral hypothesis. MRI has been demonstrated to show isolated vestibular nerve enhancement, suggesting inflammation in the affected nerve⁴⁹. A post-mortem study demonstrated inflammatory degeneration of the vestibular nerve⁵⁰, while Herpes Simplex Virus type-1 (HSV-1) RNA has been detected in approximately two-thirds of autopsied human vestibular ganglia, along with activated immune cells (CD8+ T cells)^{51, 52}. Additionally, two genome-wide association studies identified a higher prevalence of genetic variants linked to HSV-1 replication⁵³ and a high-risk allele for herpes labialis severity⁵⁴ in AUVP patients compared to the general population. These findings suggest that HSV-1 remains latent in the vestibular ganglia and can be reactivated by external or systemic triggers, leading to viral replication. This process induces inflammation, oedema, and secondary cell damage in the vestibular nerve, ultimately triggering the sudden onset of AUVP symptoms.

The labyrinthine artery, which supplies the vestibular system, lacks collateral circulation, making it highly susceptible to ischemic events. The superior vestibular artery, which supplies the horizontal and anterior semicircular canals and the utricle, is believed to be more vulnerable to ischemia than the inferior vestibular artery⁵⁵, potentially explaining why AUVP more often affects the superior division of the vestibular nerve while sparing the posterior canal⁵⁶. Additionally, some studies^{57, 58} have reported a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in AUVP patients, with poorer recovery observed in those with hypercholesterolemia ⁵⁹, suggesting a potential vascular mechanism. However, findings remain inconclusive due to contradictory reports^{60, 61}.

An autoimmune mechanism is suggested by elevated proinflammatory markers (CRP, IL-1, TNF- α)⁶², and increased activation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells⁶³. These findings imply that immune-mediated inflammation may contribute to AUVP in some cases, potentially independent of viral or ischemic causes.

Diagnosing acute unilateral vestibulopathy

Acute Vestibular Syndrome (AVS) is characterized by the sudden onset of continuous vertigo, accompanied by nausea, vomiting, and intolerance to head movements. The most common cause of AVS is AUVP, while the second most frequent cause is an ischemic stroke affecting the cerebellum or brainstem, accounting for approximately 10-25% of AVS cases⁶⁴. Given the potential severity of a central cause, stroke should always be considered in the differential diagnosis. No single test can differentiate AUVP from stroke with absolute certainty. Instead, the correct diagnosis relies on a combination of clinical assessments. In 2009, the HINTS acronym was introduced—standing for Head Impulse, Nystagmus, and Test of Skew.

The head impulse test (HIT) was introduced in 1988 by Curthoys and Halmagvi³ and evaluates the VOR. The patient is instructed to maintain visual fixation on a target straight ahead while an examiner rotates the patients head in the plane of a SCC pair. The head rotations have to be fast (>100 degrees/second) in order to assess the function of the vestibular system only on one ear, and not include responses evoked by oculomotor systems such as optokinetic, cervico-ocular and smooth pursuit³ or responses evoked by the vestibular system on the other ear^{65} . In a patient with a normally functioning VOR, a rapid, passive head movement triggers an equal and opposite eve movement of the same magnitude, allowing the patient to keep their eyes fixed on the target. In cases of AUVP, where the primary VOR pathway is disrupted, the acceleration signal necessary for eve movement is impaired, which results in the eyes drifting away from the target in the direction of the head movement. Once the head stops, the patient must make a corrective saccade to refocus on the target. The presence of a corrective saccade indicates a compromised VOR, meaning the lesion must be located somewhere along the threeneuron arc responsible for the reflex³. All three semicircular canal (SCC) pairs can be assessed using the head impulse test (HIT). However, since isolated dysfunction of the inferior vestibular nerve—resulting in posterior canal hypofunction—is rare, HIT is most commonly performed in the plane of the horizontal canals. If no corrective saccade is observed, the findings are inconsistent with AUVP and warrant evaluation for a central vestibular lesion⁶⁶. The bedside HIT is reported to have a sensitivity of 35-66% and specificity of 86-95%^{67, 68}, and its reliability varies depending on the examiner 69. Consequently, if the bedside HIT yields inconclusive results, further evaluation with video head impulse test (vHIT) and/or caloric testing is recommended³³.

AUVP predominantly affects the superior vestibular labyrinth, which includes the superior and horizontal semicircular canals, the utricle, and their afferent pathways, collectively forming the superior division of the vestibular nerve^{56, 70}. Patients with superior AUVP exhibit nystagmus with the fast phase beating away from the affected ear, with its direction corresponding to the involved semicircular canals.

This typically presents as a horizontal nystagmus with a slight upward torsional component, indicating dysfunction of the lateral and superior semicircular canals. Isolated inferior vestibular nerve involvement is rare, accounting for only 1% of all AUVP cases⁷¹. In such cases, nystagmus appears as downbeating with a torsional component, indicating posterior semicircular canal involvement. The nystagmus in AUVP decreases in amplitude with visual fixation and intensifies when the patient looks in the direction of the fast phase. It is never purely vertical or direction-changing, as these features are indicative of a central vestibular lesion⁷².

Skew deviation is a vertical misalignment of the eyes caused by disruption along the vestibulo-ocular pathway⁷³. Patients with normal ocular alignment do not exhibit refixation movements when one eye is alternately covered and then uncovered while the patient focuses on a fixed target. In contrast, those with an impaired otolith-ocular pathway display disconjugate vertical refixation saccades to maintain fixation on the target, indicating skew deviation. While a minor misalignment can occasionally occur in AUVP, skew deviation is more commonly associated with brainstem or cerebellar pathology, such as stroke, multiple sclerosis, or trauma, where the misalignment typically exceeds 3°⁷⁴. It often presents alongside ocular torsion, abnormal head tilt (torticollis), and a distorted perception of vertical orientation, collectively known as the ocular tilt reaction.

The HINTS assessment method was found to enhance diagnostic accuracy, being even better than MRI for detecting stroke during the first 48 hours⁷⁵. A Cochrane review estimated HINTS to have a sensitivity of 94% and a specificity of 87%⁷⁶.

Measuring vestibular function

The caloric test

The caloric test, introduced in the early 19th century by Robert Bárány, has remained the gold standard for assessing vestibular function throughout the decades⁷⁷ (Figure 4).



Figure 4. The external auditory canal is irrigated with cold (30°C, as shown) or warm (44°C) water (or air), creating a temperature gradient that induces convective endolymph currents in the lateral semicircular canal. Cold irrigation causes endolymph to sink, deflecting the cupula away from the utricle and inhibiting neural firing. This imbalance in vestibular input produces a sensation of rotation toward the non-irrigated ear and triggers nystagmus with slow phases toward and fast phases away from the irrigated ear. Warm irrigation has the opposite effect. Caloric-induced nystagmus is quantified by measuring peak slow-phase velocity using video-oculography.

Advantages and limitations

The key advantage with the caloric test lies in its ability to evaluate each vestibular organ individually. The caloric test has several limitations. Firstly, it assesses the responses from of the lateral semicircular canal to a stimulation simulating an extremely slow head movement (i.e., a movement frequency of 0.003–0.008 Hz)⁷⁷,

which does not reflect the often more straining motion stimuli encountered in daily life. A lack of response to caloric stimulation indicates an inability to detect these artificially induced low-frequency movements but does not provide insight into the semicircular canal's ability to perceive real-world head movements. Additionally, there is considerable variability in individual responses to caloric stimulation, both between ears and among different individuals. These fluctuations arise from anatomical differences, whether congenital or acquired through surgery, infection, or trauma. Additionally, local blood flow variations can influence heat conduction—increased by inflammation or reduced due to vasoconstriction caused by anxiety or pain—leading to either an enhanced or diminished caloric response⁷⁸. To address this limitation, a comparative approach using Jongkees's formula was introduced, assessing the relative response between the left and right ears rather than relying on absolute values:

$$\frac{(R30^{\circ} + R44^{\circ}) - (L30^{\circ} + L44^{\circ})}{(R30^{\circ} + R44 + L30^{\circ} + L44^{\circ})}X100$$

The maximum slow-phase velocities from warm (44°C) and cold (30°C) stimulation are summed separately for each ear (R denotes right and L denotes left). The difference between these summed values is then calculated and normalized by dividing it by the total magnitude of all four responses. This quotient is then multiplied by 100, providing a percentage-based measure of vestibular asymmetry and reduced vestibular function⁷⁹.

There is no international consensus on the cutoff value for asymmetry to define unilateral vestibulopathy, nor any standardized age-related correction values in the literature. However, an asymmetry greater than 25% (\pm 5) between the two ears has long been regarded as pathological⁷⁹ and is widely used as a diagnostic threshold by vestibular labs worldwide. Despite its widespread adoption, this cutoff has not been validated in modern studies that account for patients' clinical signs and symptoms⁸⁰. The caloric test is also a lot more time consuming and unpleasant for the patients compared to vHIT.

The video head impulse test

The VOR can be assessed using the bedside head impulse test, in which the clinician observes how the eyes move in the opposite direction to the head when the patient is asked to maintain fixation on a target during brisk head rotations. In patients with unilateral vestibular loss, a corrective saccade is triggered at the end of each head rotation to realign the gaze with the earth-fixed target³. A corrective saccade occurring after the head has stopped moving is visible to the naked eye to the clinician and therefore called overt saccade, and thus, serves as a key clinical sign of canal paresis³³. However, corrective saccades can also be triggered during the head movement, which makes them difficult to detect with the naked eye. Since these saccades occur during head motion and is not detectable in bedside examination, they are referred to as covert saccades⁸¹ (Figure 5).



Figure 5. The vHIT goggles use a gyroscope to measure head movements and a high-speed camera to track eye movements, providing an assessment of the VOR. The vHIT procedure is largely the same as the Head Impulse Test (HIT). During the test, the examiner applies small, unpredictable head thrusts in the plane of the semicircular canal to be investigated, while the patient maintains fixation on a stationary target. The system then analyzes whether the eyes accurately compensate for the head movement. A normal VOR results in stable gaze (head and eye movement are of the same size), whereas a reduced VOR (as presented in the figure) leads to the eye position lagging behind the head position. This is addressed by making fast eye movements to catch up, in the form of one covert and one overt saccade.

Quantification of eye movements relative to head motion was historically achieved using the scleral search coil technique, in which magnetic lenses tracked eye movements with high precision⁸². While this method was long considered the gold standard, its semi-invasive nature, complexity, and time-consuming procedure prevented its widespread clinical use. In 2009, the video head impulse test (vHIT)

was introduced⁴. Importantly, vHIT has been demonstrated to be as effective as scleral search coils in detecting vestibular loss in the horizontal canal, both in the acute and chronic phases of dysfunction⁴ and in the vertical canals⁸³.

There are three main methods for quantifying VOR performance, with no universally accepted gold standard: (1) velocity gain - the ratio of eye to head velocity at specific times during the head acceleration phase; (2) regression gain - the slope ratio of eye and head velocity during the head acceleration phase; and (3) position gain - the ratio of areas under the eye velocity and head velocity curves after any saccades has been removed⁸⁴. A normal VOR gain is typically close to 1.0 or at least above 0.8⁸⁵. In unilateral vestibular loss (UVL), gain typically falls below 0.7 during head thrusts toward the lesioned side⁸⁶. Since vHIT measurements are still evolving and no universally accepted method for calculating gains exists, there is a potential for variability in results. Therefore, VOR gains derived from vHIT should be considered estimates influenced by the specific equipment and methodology employed⁸⁷.

Advantages and limitations with the test

vHIT is a non-invasive and rapid assessment tool that evaluates the function of all six semicircular canals (SCCs) by measuring VOR performance in the high-frequency range. This range, approximately 0.1 to 10 Hz and peak velocities at about 250 degrees/second, closely aligns with the frequencies detected of the semicircular canals and compensated for by the VOR⁸⁸. Thus, the vHIT tests evaluate the performance when making head movements encountered in daily life^{89, 90}, making the collected data highly functionally relevant. Furthermore, vHIT provides an objective and quantitative assessment of vestibular function, making it a valuable tool for monitoring recovery and tracking changes over time.

Despite its advantages, vHIT has several limitations. It evaluates at least one pair of semicircular canals at a time. To assess the function in only one semicircular canal, high-acceleration head thrusts are required, as low-velocity head thrusts allow the semicircular oriented in the same plane in the other ear to contribute to the eye movement response⁴. Individual and interindividual anatomical differences in canal plane orientation⁹¹ can further contribute to variability in VOR gain values, as head thrusts intended to stimulate only one canal may simultaneously also stimulate and evoke responses from other semicircular canals¹⁵. Another limitation is that vHIT reduces the complex three-dimensional eye movement response to a one-dimensional measurement, preventing the detection of torsional movements. This effect is most apparent when testing the vertical canals⁹².

Additionally, artifact susceptibility remains a significant issue, with artifacts reported in approximately 30–55% of vHIT⁹³. These artifacts can originate from technical errors, including incorrect goggle placement⁹², goggle slippage⁹⁴, or goggle bounce⁹³. Recording issues, such as head thrust oscillations, data recording

loss, or equipment miscalibration, can also compromise data quality⁹³. Furthermore, participant-related factors, such as neck rigidity, low eye lid recording artifacts⁹⁵ and loss of the patients attention to focus the gaze⁹³, can contribute to measurement errors, leading to artificially high or low VOR gain values.

The functional Head impulse test

The Functional Head Impulse Test (fHIT) or Head Impulse Testing Device-Functional Test (HITD-FT) is a clinical tool designed to assess how well the VOR performs in respect to its goal of stabilizing gaze and improving visual performance. Early attempts to evaluate this concept involved presenting a stationary optotype during head rotations⁹⁶. However, these approaches were often considered to have limited validity, as they could not account for the contribution of pursuit eye movements that occur when head velocity decreases during sinusoidal motion. A major advancement in functional VOR testing came with the development of computerized systems, which allowed visual acuity to be tested dynamically as a function of head velocity⁹⁷. fHIT is a modern dynamic visual performance test. fHIT measures the head movement with a gyroscope but unlike the vHIT, which measures VOR gain using high-speed eye tracking, fHIT directly tests functional vision by requiring patients to identify a visual symbol while performing rapid head movements (Figure 6). The percentage of correctly recognized optotypes provides a functional measure of how well the VOR functions can provide visual stability during movements⁹⁸.



Figure 6. The test starts with an assessment of static visual acuity. The subsequent fHIT is then performed using an optotype size calculated from the size of the smallest correctly detected optotype multiplied by a factor of 0,8logMAR. The examiner then delivers unpredictable, passive head impulses in the plane of the semicircular canals. During the test, the patient wears a headband equipped with a gyroscope that measures the head movement. During each head impulse, a random optotype consisting of a small circle with an opening in eight different directions, appears briefly on a screen, which the patient must identify by pressing the correct key on a keyboard.

Advantages and limitations

The advantages and limitations of fHIT are similar to those of vHIT, with some notable differences. fHIT tests may be more comfortable to perform for patients, as it does not require goggles - only a lightweight headband. Additionally, since fHIT does not rely on pupil tracking, it is not directly affected by artifacts related to eye movement recording, such as goggle slippage or reflections. A key benefit is its educational value for patients, as it provides a clear, visual representation of their functional improvement following vestibular loss. However, fHIT has low specificity, meaning it cannot differentiate between peripheral and central vestibular disorders, often necessitating further diagnostic testing for a more precise diagnosis.

Self-perceived dizziness

Subjective dizziness and well-being after vestibular loss can be assessed using self-reported questionnaires that evaluate the impact of dizziness, imbalance, and vestibular dysfunction on daily life.

The Dizziness Handicap Inventory (DHI) is the most widely used questionnaires for evaluating the impact of dizziness on quality of life⁹⁹. It consists of 25 questions, categorized into three subscales: functional, emotional, and physical. The functional subscale assesses how dizziness affects daily activities such as walking, driving, and social participation. The emotional subscale evaluates the psychological impact of dizziness, including frustration, fear of falling, and anxiety. The physical subscale measures dizziness-related symptoms triggered by head movements or environmental factors. Each item is scored as Yes (4 points), Sometimes (2 points), or No (0 points), with a total possible score ranging from 0 to 100¹⁰⁰. The questionnaire has been translated into Swedish, validated in the Swedish population¹⁰¹, and is widely used in clinical practice.

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)¹⁰² is a self-assessment questionnaire designed to detect symptoms of anxiety and depression in patients. It consists of 14 items, divided into two subscales: 7 for anxiety (HADS-A) and 7 for depression (HADS-D). Each item is scored from 0 to 3, a higher score depicts a worse condition, giving a maximum score of 21 for each subscale. HADS is widely used for evaluating psychological distress and has been translated and validated in Swedish¹⁰³.

A Likert scale is a discrete, ordinal scale commonly used to assess the severity or impact of different symptoms, amongst other dizziness and vertigo. Patients rate their symptoms on a scale with a fixed number of response options, typically ranging from 1 = No dizziness to 10 = Worst dizziness imaginable. The advantage of a Likert scale is its simplicity and ease of interpretation, though it may be less sensitive to small changes in symptom severity¹⁰⁴.

Advantages and limitations

DHI, HADS and Likert scales are non-invasive, quick tools to evaluate how well a patient is doing after AUVP. One could argue that the results only represent the overall outcome of vestibular recovery and compensation. However, how a patient rates their well-being or handicap after AUVP is also strongly influenced by psychological factors and personality traits, particularly an individual's ability to cope with challenges. These factors will also be reflected in self-reported assessments¹⁰⁵.

Vestibular recovery and compensation

AUVP initially induces nystagmus, severe dizziness, postural instability, ocular head tilt reaction and nausea due to the asymmetry in vestibular signaling between the two vestibular organs. This persistent imbalance is disruptive to normal neural processing, prompting the brain to rapidly initiate compensatory mechanisms to adapt to the loss of sensory input from one vestibular organ. This is a complicated and multimodal process occurring both in the periphery (the vestibular organ, hair cells and vestibular nerve) but mostly centrally (vestibular nuclear complex, cerebellum, brain)¹⁰⁶. Different compensatory processes are initiated at the same time but for simplistic reasons they are often described in relation to the stages of symptom relief.

Vestibular recovery

It is important to note that most studies on vestibular compensation have been conducted using an idealized model of complete permanent unilateral vestibular loss, typically induced through surgical labyrinthectomy or vestibular nerve section. In contrast, AUVP, which is thought to result from viral reactivation or ischemia, could in theory cause reversible and partial rather than total and permanent destruction of the vestibular organ or nerve. Full recovery of vestibular function, as indicated by restoration of VOR gain measured with vHIT, has been observed¹⁰⁷. Such recovery may be attributed to regeneration of peripheral sensory hair cells, sprouting of new afferent terminals from remaining vestibular nerve fibers, or increased synaptic weighting of residual vestibular inputs, enabling functional restoration despite initial damage¹⁰⁸. Recovery of vestibular function in long term follow ups (1-10 years post lesion) as measured by the caloric responsiveness has been reported to be in the range of 40-80 %¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹¹ and as measured by vHIT 6 months after the onset to be about 80%¹¹². If a patient's vestibular function is fully restored, this should be regarded as recovery rather than compensation. However, throughout the healing process, the patient will likely have relied on compensatory mechanisms to maintain balance and gaze stability in parallel with physiological restoration.

Compensation of static symptoms

AUVP disrupts vestibular signaling on one side, leading to an imbalance in neural activity between the two vestibular nuclei. The static symptoms experienced while sitting or lying still - spontaneous nystagmus, head tilt, ocular tilt, and postural imbalance - are a direct result of this asymmetry. However, these symptoms typically diminish within the first few days to a week after the onset as the brain begins to compensate¹⁰⁸.

Following vestibular injury, specific genes are upregulated within hours, initiating a cascade of molecular and cellular events over the following days. A microglial and an astroglial response emerges as early as one day post-lesion, persisting for several weeks in animal models¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵. This response correlates with elevated inflammatory markers, indicating neuroinflammation¹¹⁶. Simultaneously, levels of neuroprotective and neurotrophic factors increase, along with proteins involved in axonal growth, suggesting that neural protection and structural reorganization occur in parallel within the vestibular nuclear complex¹⁰⁸.

During the initial phase of vestibular compensation, cerebellar inhibition of the vestibular nuclei was traditionally believed to play the primary role¹¹⁷. However, more recent studies^{118, 119} suggest that it is rather the commissural vestibular system—which connects the vestibular nuclei on both sides of the brainstem through reciprocal inhibitory pathways—that plays the main part. By modulating neural activity through GABA-mediated inhibition, the commissural vestibular system plays a key role in restoring balance between the vestibular nuclei, thereby alleviating the static symptoms of AUVP. These early neuroplastic adaptations and the rebalancing of neural activity within the vestibular nuclei have been demonstrated using functional-PET imaging, which measures regional glucose metabolism in the brain¹²⁰. However, the cerebellum plays a crucial role in recovery after AUVP, as studies have shown that cerebellar lesions can delay or impair the resolution of static symptoms and hinder the initiation of behavioral recovery^{121, 122}. It is also thought that the vestibulocerebellum plays a crucial part in consolidating vestibular compensation¹²³.

Compensation of dynamic symptoms

Dynamic symptoms, meaning those that occur during movement due to a disrupted VOR, tend to persist longer and are often not fully compensated¹²⁴. The compensation of dynamic deficits involves a combination of neural¹²⁵ and behavioral compensation^{26, 108}. The shared characteristics of these mechanisms are that they involve an active learning process, that inquire the patient to interact with the environment to recalibrate the vestibular system.

Synaptic alterations

Synaptic alterations may play a crucial role in stabilizing and reinforcing early functional recovery following vestibular loss. One key mechanism involves the sprouting of intact vestibular nerve fibers, which form new synaptic connections in the deafferented vestibular nuclei, a process observed within weeks in animal models¹²⁶. Additionally, an increase in post-synaptic receptor density enhances the sensitivity of remaining vestibular inputs, thereby amplifying neural responses¹²⁷. Given the widespread connectivity of central vestibular nuclei, influencing multiple brain

regions and contributing to the broader compensatory process and functional recovery¹²⁰.

Behavioral vestibular compensation

Behavioral vestibular compensation refers to the adaptive strategies and motor adjustments individuals develop to cope with vestibular dysfunction, allowing them to regain postural stability, gaze control, and spatial orientation. Unlike neural compensation, which involves plasticity within the vestibular pathways, behavioral compensation encompasses both conscious and unconscious modifications in movement patterns, sensory strategies, and motor planning to reduce dizziness and imbalance. However, one could argue that all forms of compensation ultimately involve changes at the synaptic or even gene expression level, suggesting that the distinction between neural and behavioral compensation may be somewhat obsolete. Instead of viewing them as separate processes, it may be more accurate to consider behavioral adaptations as an outward manifestation of underlying neural plasticity. Sensory reweighting, also known as sensory substitution, refers to the replacement of lost vestibular information with sensory input from another functioning sensory system. For example, it is well established that patients with vestibular loss that compensate by relying more on visual information have a better balance^{128, 129}. Similarly, minimizing postural challenges helps reduce the risk of falls or missteps, allowing for greater stability. For instance, studies have observed that individuals with vestibular injuries tend to walk and move slower¹³⁰.

As previously described, corrective saccades—considered a cardinal sign of AUVP—are generated to redirect the eyes back to the visual target, compensating for impaired gaze stability¹³¹. When corrective saccades occur after the head movement has ceased, they are visible to the naked eye and are known as overt saccades, forming the basis of a clinically positive head impulse test³. In contrast, saccades that occur during the head movement are most often not visible without recording equipment and are therefore termed covert saccades⁸¹. Covert saccades are initiated during head movement^{81, 131}, significantly faster than volitional saccades i.e. conscious saccades directed toward a new target¹³².

Previous research has demonstrated that actively generated head movements can trigger covert saccades with shorter latencies¹³³ and that active movements improve dynamic visual performance, compared to passive movements¹³⁴ This would in turn suggest that rehabilitation strategies should be designed to promote the generation of covert saccades¹³⁵. Additionally, it has been proposed that covert saccades with short latencies help reduce oscillopsia and enhance visual performance even during passive/unpredictable head movements¹³⁶. It has also been suggested that the initial saccade responses may transition from overt to covert saccades over time¹³⁷ and that the latency of covert saccades may progressively decrease - even during passive, unpredictable movement. Such evolution in saccadic behavior could serve as an indicator of successful central compensation following vestibular loss^{107, 138}.
What triggers covert saccades is not known. The error signal induced by retinal slip i.e. the motion of a visual image across the retina when the eyes fail to stabilize a target effectively during a head movement has been put forward as a possible trigger¹³⁹. Somatosensory signals from the neck muscles via the COR or efference copy has been suggested^{138, 140}. Other potential sources of activation may include residual vestibular function⁸¹.

Treatment of Acute unilateral vestibulopathy

Antiemetic treatment

Antiemetic treatment, including antihistamines and serotonin receptor antagonists (5HT3-blockers), is frequently prescribed in the first few days to relieve nausea and vomiting in patients with AUVP. However, its use should be restricted, as many of these medications—particularly antihistamines—have sedative properties that may impede early patient mobilization¹⁴¹, delaying the initiation of vestibular rehabilitation and hindering the compensatory process.

Corticosteroid treatment

Due to their anti-inflammatory properties, corticosteroids have been the reference treatment for various inflammatory diseases and brain injuries for many years^{142, 143}. Their use in AUVP is based on the premise that they may reduce inflammation in the vestibular nerve, thereby preventing nerve swelling, reducing the risk of entrapment and fiber necrosis, and potentially increasing the chance of recovery²⁰. While viral reactivation as the cause of AUVP is not yet fully established, evidence indicates that it triggers a neuroinflammatory response, characterized by an increase in microglia, astroglia, and associated inflammatory proteins¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵. AUVP has additionally been shown to activate the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis or the stress axis, leading to a strong release of endogenous corticosteroids within the deafferented vestibular nuclei¹⁴⁴, reenforcing a neuroinflammatory process. The activation of the stress axis and the modulation of the neuroinflammatory process have been identified as potential therapeutic targets for corticosteroid treatment. Several animal studies have reported beneficial effects of corticosteroids on vestibular compensation^{145, 146}. However, more recent research suggests that acute endogenous neuroinflammation may play a positive role in facilitating neuroplasticity mechanisms, ultimately enhancing functional recovery after AUVP, and that a inhibition of this process would be directly harmful for the vestibular compensation process¹⁴⁷.

In humans, the effects of corticosteroid treatment on vestibular function have been inconsistent. Some studies have demonstrated that corticosteroids improve vestibular function, as measured by caloric responsiveness, both in the acute phase (<3 months)^{111, 148} and in the chronic phase (6-24 months after AUVP onset) ^{110, 149-151}. However, other studies have found no significant effect on caloric responsiveness in either the acute^{112, 152} or chronic phase^{111, 112, 152, 153}. Similarly, while some studies suggest corticosteroids reduce symptoms in the acute phase^{149, 154-156}, others report no significant difference in vertigo or nausea symptoms during this period^{157, 158}.

Studies have varied in their inclusion criteria, corticosteroid dosage, and treatment duration, while many other studies lack randomizations, placebo control, or blinding, which may contribute to inconsistent findings. Importantly, the timing of treatment initiation has also differed significantly across studies, ranging from within 48 to 72 hours to up to one week after symptom onset, with some not specifying the time frame at all. In Bell's palsy, an idiopathic facial nerve palsy with a suspected viral reactivation etiology similar to AUVP¹⁵⁹, corticosteroid treatment has been shown to be effective ¹⁵⁹ with the greatest recovery of nerve function when administered within 48 hours from onset¹⁶⁰, emphasizing the potential importance of early intervention.

Corticosteroids are associated with several side effects, including hyperglycemia, hypertension, gastric ulcers, insomnia, temporary immunosuppression, confusion, irritability, and psychiatric disorders such as depression or mania¹⁶¹.

Six meta-analyses¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁷ have concluded that there is insufficient evidence to recommend corticosteroid treatment for AUVP. However, the most recent metaanalysis contradicts these findings, advocating for corticosteroid treatment in AUVP¹⁶⁸. Despite mixed evidence, corticosteroids remain the most used treatment for AUVP worldwide¹⁶⁹.

Vestibular rehabilitation

Vestibular rehabilitation is designed to enhance central compensation following vestibular dysfunction. A Cochrane review concluded that there is moderate to strong evidence supporting vestibular rehabilitation for unilateral peripheral vestibular dysfunction, including AUVP¹⁷⁰. It reduces symptom intensity and duration^{171, 172} with long-term effectiveness comparable to corticosteroids^{148, 152}, and greater short-term benefit within the first month¹⁷³.

Some knowledge gaps and research questions

Studies in both animals and humans have produced contradictory results regarding the efficacy of corticosteroids promoting vestibular recovery. In the largest doubleblind RCT, Strupp et al¹¹⁰. demonstrated improved vestibular function recovery with corticosteroid treatment. However, several other studies have failed to do the same. While corticosteroids often cause discomfort due to their side effects, they also carry the risk of potentially severe adverse reactions.

Are corticosteroids effective for recovery of vestibular function recovery or reduced symptoms in the acute and in the chronic phase?

The initiation of treatment has varied among studies. Notably, research on Bell's palsy has shown that nerve function recovery is significantly improved when treatment is initiated within 48 hours.

Is there an optimal timing of corticosteroid administration in AUVP, specifically does early intervention play a critical role in its potential efficacy?

Vestibular compensation is a complex, multimodal process, vHIT has become a valuable tool to analyze one aspect of this process—the VOR and the corrective saccades that occur when VOR function is impaired. However, the mechanisms underlying the generation of corrective saccades and their exact role in compensation remain incompletely understood.

Are covert and overt saccades functionally relevant for gaze stabilization?

Currently, no objective measure can definitively determine whether a patient has fully compensated after AUVP. The pattern of corrective saccades, particularly the transition from a mix of covert and overt saccades to predominantly covert saccades, has been suggested as a potential indicator of successful compensation.

Should covert saccades be recognized as a reliable marker of successful vestibular compensation?

Aims

The overall aims of this thesis were to enhance the treatment for patients with AUVP and to gain a better understanding of compensational mechanisms after AUVP.

The specific intentions for the conducted studies were:

Paper I

To evaluate if an early start of treatment with corticosteroids in patients with AUVP enhances the recovery of vestibular function.

Paper II

To prospectively evaluate if corticosteroid treatment enhanced recovery of vestibular function and reduce symptoms in the acute and chronic phase of AUVP.

Paper III

To assess whether VOR gain, the presence and latencies of covert saccades in patients with complete unilateral vestibular loss are influenced by self-generated versus passive head movements, and to determine how these factors impact visual performance.

Paper IV

To analyze how covert saccades improve visual performance during self-generated and passive movements in patients with a complete unilateral vestibular loss.

Paper V

To investigate the course of vestibular recovery and the development of compensatory strategies - particularly the evolution of saccadic behavior - from the onset of AUVP to one year after the onset.

Methods

Study populations

In Paper I, a retrospective analysis was conducted on 33 patients diagnosed with acute total unilateral vestibulopathy (AUVP). All patients had been treated with corticosteroids within three days of symptom onset and closely monitored by the Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, between July 2004 and December 2005.

In Papers II and V, patients aged 18–80 years with AUVP were prospectively recruited from the Emergency Departments and the Departments of Otorhinolaryngology at three sites in southern Sweden: Skåne University Hospital Lund, Kristianstad Hospital, and Helsingborg Hospital, between December 1, 2015, and March 1, 2021. Eligibility required fulfillment of criteria consistent with the Bárány Society diagnostic criteria for AUVP³³, except for the 24-hour symptom duration criterion. Instead, patients were categorized as having "AUVP in evolution" within the same classification system. Participants had to be capable of providing informed consent and were excluded if they had a history of vertiginous disease or if symptom onset occurred more than 48 hours before possible inclusion. A total of 75 patients were randomized into one of three groups: placebo, 3-day corticosteroid treatment, or 10-day corticosteroid treatment. Of these, 69 patients were included in the final modified intention to treat analysis in Paper II.

In Paper V, 43 patients from study II were included in the final analysis. Twentysix were excluded due to the use of non-Interacoustics equipment or technical issues transferring vHIT data from the Interacoustics system to the custom-made LabVIEW software.

In Papers III and IV, patients with complete unilateral vestibular loss were included. This cohort consisted of eight individuals who had undergone translabyrinthine schwannoma surgery (mean time since surgery: 8 years; range: 1–16 years) and one patient with unilateral congenital vestibular loss, likely resulting from an intrauterine cytomegalovirus infection. Due to technical issues, in Paper IV data from one schwannoma patient could not be analyzed, resulting in a total of eight patients in the final analysis. Complete vestibular loss was confirmed by bi-thermal caloric testing, video head impulse testing (vHIT) of all six semicircular canals, and cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (cVEMP).

The caloric test

Vestibular function was assessed using the caloric test in Paper I and II. Patients were positioned in a supine posture with the head elevated at a 30° angle to align the horizontal semicircular canals vertically. Infrared video oculography goggles (Interacoustics, VisualEyes), which eliminated visual fixation by blocking all external light, were used to record eye movements. Caloric stimulation was performed using water at 30°C and 44°C in both ears, and the mean peak slow-phase velocity of the induced nystagmus was measured for each irrigation. Vestibular asymmetry was calculated using Jongkees's formula (see section Measuring vestibular function) for vestibular paresis. An interaural difference exceeding 32%¹⁷⁴ in Paper I and 22% in Paper II (normative value at the Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund) was considered indicative of abnormal vestibular function.

video Head Impulse Test

Vestibular function was also evaluated using the video Head Impulse Test (vHIT) in Papers II-V. In Paper II, vHIT was performed using a combination of systems: Interacoustics EyeSeeCam (version 1.2, Interacoustics A/S, Middelfart, Denmark)¹⁷⁵, ICS Impulse video goggles (Otometrics, Taastrup, Denmark)⁶⁵, and SYNAPSIS¹⁷⁶. In Papers III–V, the Interacoustics EyeSeeCam system (version 1.2) was consistently used to assess VOR gain in all six semicircular canals. However, as the vHIT provides the highest precision in assessing the horizontal (lateral) semicircular canals, only data from the lateral canals are presented in all papers. In the final gain analysis (Paper II), regression-based gain was used for patients assessed with the Interacoustics software, while area-under-the-curve gain was used for those examined with the Otometrics and SYNAPSIS systems. In Paper III, regression-based gain was also utilized. In Paper V, both regression-based gain and gain values at 40, 60, and 80 ms are presented.

The vHIT procedure was the same (Paper II-V); the subject was seated in an armless chair positioned 1.5 meters in front of a white wall, fixating on a 3×3 cm blue marker placed at eye level, which served as the visual target throughout the test. Subjects were instructed to maintain fixation on the target at all times. All tests were conducted by two different examiners (Paper II and V) and by the same examiner (Paper III and IV), who stood behind the subject and manually applied rapid, passive horizontal head impulses. These movements had peak velocities exceeding 150°/s, accelerations/decelerations typically between 3,000 and 8,000°/s², and amplitudes of approximately 10–20°. Testing continued until the Interacoustics software had accepted the characteristics of at least 10 performed head impulses in each direction.

In Paper III and IV, patients performed active horizontal head movements adhering to the same criteria of peak velocity, acceleration, and amplitude as was used during the trials with passive head movements. Participants were allowed to make practice attempts before the actual recording. Testing proceeded until the software had accepted the characteristics of at least10 active head movements per direction.

functional Head Impulse Test

In Papers III and IV, vestibular function was assessed using a functional test of visual performance - the Head Impulse Testing Device - Functional Test (HITD-FT), also known as the fHIT (Beon Solutions Srl, Zero Branco (TV), Italy)^{98, 177}. Participants were seated 1.5 meters in front of a full HD fHIT monitor (1920×1080 resolution, 60 Hz refresh rate), wearing a head-mounted accelerometer and holding a keyboard. Before initiating the functional test, static visual acuity was assessed. During this pre-test, the participant viewed scaled Landolt C optotypes, starting at a size corresponding to 1.0 logMAR (logarithm of the Minimum Angle of Resolution). The optotype size decreased progressively across 20 trials, based on the participant's error rate. The smallest correctly identified optotype size was used to determine the stimulus size for the fHIT trials, calculated as 0.8 logMAR of that baseline size.

During the first fHIT session, the examiner manually applied horizontal head impulses until the software had accepted 10 impulses in each direction. A valid head impulse was defined by the software as having an acceleration between $3,000-6,000^{\circ}/s^2$. The subject was instructed to fixate on a central dot on the screen. As soon as the angular head velocity exceeded $10^{\circ}/s$ and acceleration surpassed $300^{\circ}/s^2$, the software triggered a Landolt C optotype (in one of eight orientations) after a delay of approximately 62 ms. The optotype remained visible for 83 ms. The participant was then prompted to identify the orientation of the symbol by pressing the corresponding button on the keyboard. In the second fHIT session, the same testing procedure was followed, but the head impulses were performed actively by the participants themselves. Participants were allowed a brief familiarization period and typically required only a few trials before performing consistent and reliable self-generated head thrusts.

fHIT performance was expressed as the percentage of correctly identified optotypes, as calculated by the fHIT 1.0 software system.

Self-rated symptoms and questionnaires

In Papers II and V, subjective well-being was assessed from the onset of AUVP through one year post-onset. During the acute phase (the first month), vertigo severity was self-rated daily using a Likert scale ranging from 1 (no symptoms) to 10 (worst possible symptoms). In the chronic phase—specifically at the 3- and 12-month follow-ups - self-perceived disability related to dizziness was measured using the Dizziness Handicap Inventory (DHI)¹⁰⁰, while psychological distress was assessed with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)¹⁰². The DHI consists of 25 items evaluating the frequency of dizziness-related difficulties or distress in everyday situations. Each item is rated on a 5-point scale from 0 (no distress) to 4, with total scores ranging from 0 (no perceived handicap) to 100 (maximum perceived handicap). The HADS is a 14-item questionnaire comprising two subscales—Anxiety and Depression—each with seven items. Responses are scored from 0 (no symptoms) to 3 (severe symptoms), yielding subscale scores between 0 and 21. Validated Swedish versions of both the DHI¹⁰¹ and HADS¹⁰³ were used.

Adverse events

In Paper II all patients received written information regarding the potential adverse effects of corticosteroid treatment. They were instructed to record any side effects or adverse events in a diary throughout the study period. Adverse effects were systematically assessed during follow-up visits at 1 month, 3 months, and 1 year post-treatment initiation. Treatment was discontinued if a patient chose to withdraw from the study at any point.

Data analysis in custom-made Labview software

In Papers III-V the vHIT recordings were analyzed by a custom-made Labview software. Initially, the recordings were screened for artifacts in the eye position trace. This included removing trials affected by eye blinks, noise due to failed pupil detection or segmentation by the recording software, anticipatory eye movements, and slippage of the goggles, as indicated by eye movements occurring before the head movement onset.

In Papers IV and V, the error between eye and head movements was analyzed. As a first step, the correspondence between eye and head movement amplitudes was verified for each trace, acknowledging that the Interacoustics vHIT system records these signals via different techniques - eye movements through video tracking and

head movements via an accelerometer. Positional data for both eye and head movements were computed over a 700 ms window, including ~50 ms prior to head movement onset, by integrating the recorded velocity signals. Total displacement was determined by identifying stable start and end points and calculating the difference between them. To ensure accurate comparison, eye position data were corrected at the sample level using head position data as a reference, aligning the overall movement amplitude of both signals. These normalized position traces were then used for further analysis. When required, corresponding velocity and acceleration values were derived from the normalized position data.

The software automatically analyzed eye velocity data to detect the presence of corrective saccades (Paper II-V). Detected saccades were classified as covert if initiated during the head movement and as overt if initiated after the head movement had ceased. A saccade was considered present - either toward the lesioned or contralesional side - if it occurred in more than one head impulse in the same patient (Paper III and V).

In Paper III-V; for each first covert and overt saccade, the software measured the peak latency, defined as the time (in seconds) from head movement onset to the peak saccade velocity, and recorded the peak velocity (°/s). Head movement onset was defined as the point at which head velocity exceeded 30° /s. Corrective saccades were identified based on three criteria: a peak velocity greater than 80° /s, acceleration and deceleration phases exceeding $3,000^{\circ}$ /s², and a duration between 10 and 80 milliseconds.

In Paper IV, the software calculated the absolute mean error between eye and head position across three defined time windows. The first window covered the entire head movement, beginning when head velocity exceeded 10° /s and ending when it dropped below that threshold. The second window represented the delay period, spanning from the moment head velocity surpassed 10° /s to 62 milliseconds later - reflecting the delay used in the fHIT test. The third window corresponded to the optotype presentation period in the fHIT test, starting 62 ms after head velocity first exceeded 10° /s and lasting for 80 ms.

In Paper V the software also calculated the amplitude (°) of each saccade and the gaze error at both the onset and completion of the saccade movement. Gaze error at the onset was defined as the positional difference between the head and eye at the start of the saccade, while gaze error at the end was defined similarly at the point of saccade completion.

Statistical methods

Across the five studies, data distribution was assessed visually and, when skewness was suspected, verified using the Shapiro-Wilk test. If data were not normally distributed, log-transformation was applied (Paper II – DHI and HADS scores). Group comparisons and within-group changes were primarily analyzed using repeated measures GLM ANOVA or Friedman's test (Paper V). Due to relatively small sample sizes and occasional non-normality, non-parametric post hoc tests (Mann-Whitney U and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests) were used. Fisher's exact test and chi-square were applied for categorical comparisons. Bonferroni correction was used to adjust for multiple comparisons. Spearman correlation was used to examine associations between variables. In Paper II power calculations were made for the primary end point (caloric responsiveness) and based on Strupp et al.¹¹⁰. The mean (\pm SD) difference requirements were set to 25 \pm 26% (calculated with Jongkees's formula)⁷⁹. The power analysis yielded an effect size of 0.96 and a sample size requirement of 18 patients in each group, assuming a t-test for difference between two independent means (two groups), a two-sided alpha level of 0.05 and a statistical power of 0.80. In Paper III and IV the sample size analyses were performed on the parameters used that were unaffected by boundaries (i.e., the f-HIT-score and the frequency of covert saccades parameters could only assume values within the range of 0-100). The sample size analysis of the vHIT gain parameter revealed an effect size of 1.8, which shows that with the p-value set to 0.05 (2-tailed), our study would require n = 5 subjects to reach a power value of 0.8 for this parameter. The sample size analysis of the saccade peak latency parameter revealed an effect size of 2.2, which shows that with the p-value set to 0.05 (2tailed), our study would require n = 4 subjects to reach a power value of 0.8 for this parameter.

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics (versions 24-28) and power calculations were made in GPower software (versions 3.1 - 3.1.9.7).

Ethical considerations

All studies were approved by the regional ethics board, Etikprövningsmyndigheten, Lund, Sweden; DNR 2017/400 for Paper I, DNR 2015/5 for Paper II and V, DNR 2016/32 for paper III and IV. In the prospective studies (Paper II-V) all patients gave their written and informed consent prior to participation.

Investigations and results

Paper I

Study population: Thirty-three patients (17 men, 16 women), aged 17–85 years (mean 57), diagnosed with AUVP and treated with corticosteroids within 72 hours of symptom onset.

Study design: Retrospective analysis of caloric asymmetry after 3 months. All patients received oral prednisolone (50 mg/day for 5 days, followed by a tapering regimen of 10 mg/day over the next 5 days). Intravenous betamethasone was used if the patients were unable to tolerate oral medication the first days. Patients treated within 24 hours (n=9) were compared to those treated between 25 and 72 hours after symptom onset (n=24).

Results: All patients treated within 24 hours showed normal caloric test results at 3-month follow-up, compared to 58% of those treated between 25-72 hours (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Early steroid treatment within 24 hours of symptom onset in AUVP improves vestibular recovery, as measured by caloric test normalization. The results suggest a time-sensitive therapeutic window, thus supporting an early intervention with glucocorticoids for better vestibular restitution.



Figure 7. Caloric responses at follow-up after 3 months for treatment within 24 hours versus after 24 hours. Dashed line indicates cutoff for normal caloric response (32%).

Paper II

Study population: a modified intention to treat population of 69 patients (mean age =55 years, range 22–78 with AUVP recruited within 48 hours of symptom onset from emergency departments at three sites in southern Sweden between 2015 and 2021.

Study design: A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial comparing three groups: placebo, 3-day corticosteroid treatment, and 10-day corticosteroid treatment. The primary outcome was canal paresis (caloric asymmetry) after 12 months. Secondary outcomes included caloric asymmetry after 3 months, VOR gain measured by vHIT at onset, 1 month, 3 months, and 12 months; daily vertigo severity recorded over the first month using a Likert scale; and self-reported measures of dizziness-related handicap (DHI) and psychological distress (HADS) evaluated at 3 and 12 months.

Results: All groups demonstrated a significant decrease in caloric asymmetry over time (p=0.002), with no significant differences between treatment groups at any time point (p=0.629). In the 10-day steroid group, caloric asymmetry significantly decreased from $63\pm35\%$ at one week to $37\pm35\%$ at 12 months (p=0.014). The 3-day steroid group showed a non-significant trend toward improvement, with asymmetry decreasing from $60\pm33\%$ to $41\pm34\%$ (p=0.039), while the placebo group showed minimal change, from $64\pm38\%$ to $54\pm38\%$ (p=0.496). Corticosteroid treatments were well tolerated, with no safety concerns observed.

All groups exhibited progressive improvement in ipsilesional vHIT gain over time (p < 0.001); however, no significant treatment effect was observed (p = 0.687).

Vertigo symptoms, measured on a Likert scale, decreased significantly in all groups during the first month (p < 0.001); however, no significant differences were found between the corticosteroid-treated groups and the placebo group (p = 0.524). Self-perceived dizziness handicap, assessed with the DHI, showed significant improvement between the 3- and 12-month follow-ups (p=0.006), but again, no differences were observed between treatment groups (p=0.454). Scores on the HADS remained low for both anxiety and depression, with no significant change between the 3- and 12-month follow-ups, and no differences between the treatment groups.

Conclusion: The findings indicate that corticosteroid treatment does not improve symptoms in either the acute phase or in the long-term phase of AUVP, nor does it lead to substantial recovery of vestibular function.



Figure 8. Outcomes from Paper II comparing caloric function, vHIT gain, and subjective symptoms across treatment groups. A) Caloric asymmetry with Bonferroni-corrected significance levels (*p < 0.025). B) Ipsilesional vHIT gain with Bonferroni correction (*p < 0.0125; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001). C) Median vertigo scores (Likert scale) from day 1 to 28. D) DHI scores (**p < 0.01). In panels A, B and D, boxes represent treatment groups; "x" marks the mean; horizontal lines show the 25th, 50th (median), and 75th percentiles; and whiskers indicate the 10th and 90th percentiles.

Paper III

Study population: 9 individuals (5 women, 4 men; mean age 47 years) with complete unilateral vestibular loss were included. Eight participants had undergone translabyrinthine surgery for vestibular schwannoma (mean time since surgery: 8 years, range 1-16), and one had congenital vestibular loss likely due to intrauterine cytomegalovirus infection.

Study design: Cross-sectional experimental study evaluating vestibular function using vHIT and fHIT during both passive and active head movements.

Results: Active head impulses toward the lesioned (ipsilesional) side resulted in significantly better visual performance compared to passive impulses, as reflected by higher fHIT scores (91.2% vs. 64.4%, p=0.002). VOR gain also increased significantly during active movements (p=0.006), with the most pronounced improvement observed toward the lesioned side (p=0.005). Covert saccades during active movements demonstrated significantly shorter latencies overall (p=0.048), particularly for ipsilesional movements (p=0.004).

Conclusions: active head movements lead to near-normal dynamic visual performance, even toward the side with complete vestibular loss. This improvement could be due to the presence of short-latency covert saccades.



Figure 9. Eye and head velocity traces from a representative subject during head impulses toward the ipsilesional side. Left figure: Passive head impulse showing reduced eye velocity during head movement, followed by a late covert saccade (~135 ms) and an overt compensatory saccade. Right figure: Active head rotation in the same subject demonstrating an early covert saccade (~60 ms) occurring during the head movement.



Figure 10. Percentage of correctly identified optotypes in the fHIT test during passive (pink) and active (blue) head impulses toward the ipsilesional and contralesional sides.



Figure 11. Graphic illustration of the relationship between fHIT-scores and corrective saccade latencies during passive and active ipsilesional head impulses.

Paper IV

Study population: 8 individuals (4 women, 4 men; mean age 47 years) with complete unilateral vestibular loss were included. 7 participants had undergone translabyrinthine surgery for vestibular schwannoma (mean time since surgery: 8 years, range 1-16), and one had congenital vestibular loss likely due to intrauterine cytomegalovirus infection.

Study design: cross-sectional experimental study evaluating vestibular function using vHIT and fHIT during both passive and active head movements.

Results: Active head impulses resulted in significantly smaller position errors between head and eye during the time frame corresponding to the visual perception task (fHIT), compared to during passive impulses (p=0.006). Furthermore, reduced position errors during this period were strongly associated with shorter latencies of the first corrective saccade (r=0.915, p<0.001).

Conclusions: active head impulses even toward the side with complete vestibular loss results in position errors that remain within or near the threshold required for brief visual perception in patients with chronic unilateral vestibular loss. This effect appears to be attributed by the occurrence of short-latency covert saccades, which help position the eyes more effectively during head movements.



Figure 12. Absolute eye-head position errors, reflecting deviation from the visual target during head movement. Errors are shown for three time frames: the total head movement, the 62 ms delay, and the 80 ms optotype presentation window. Data are presented for both ipsilesional and contralesional directions during active and passive head impulses. Bars represent group mean values; error bars indicate standard error of the mean (SEM). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc p-values are shown numerically.



Figure 13. vHIT traces from a representative subject during passive (A, C, E) and active (B, D, F) ipsilesional head impulses. Panels A and B display head velocity (blue) and eye velocity (red) during the head thrust. Panels C and D show angular head and eye positions. Panels E and F illustrate the angular position error between eye and head, where negative values indicate that the eyes lag behind head movement. Shaded areas indicate the analyzed time frames: light blue represents the total head movement, orange marks the 62 ms delay, and green highlights the 80 ms optotype presentation window used in the fHIT test.

Paper V

Study population: 43 patients (27 male, 16 female; mean age 55, rang 41-69) diagnosed with AUVP.

Study design: A prospective longitudinal study that assessed vestibular recovery and central compensation from the onset of acute unilateral vestibulopathy (AUVP) through one year. Vestibular function was evaluated using vHIT at four time points: within the first week of symptom onset, and at 1, 3, and 12 months. The study included a detailed analysis of covert and overt saccades - examining their latency, velocity, amplitude, and gaze error - to explore their role in the compensation process. Subjective well-being was assessed using daily vertigo ratings on a Likert scale during the first month and the Dizziness Handicap Inventory (DHI) at 3 and 12 months.

Results: Following AUVP, VOR gain improved significantly over 12 months (p<0.001), with the most substantial recovery observed within the first 3 months (p<0.001). The presence of both covert (p=0.005) and overt (p<0.001) saccades decreased over time. A low VOR gain (<0.6) was associated with covert saccades, intermediate gain (0.8-1.0) with overt saccades, and normal gain (>1.0) with the absence of corrective saccades. The properties of covert saccades remained unchanged over time and demonstrated no correlation with self-reported dizziness.

Conclusion: Following AUVP, vestibular function improves over time, accompanied by a gradual reduction in both covert and overt saccades. VOR recovery varies between individuals, with covert saccades emerging at lower VOR gain and overt saccades emerging till at very high gains. The properties of covert saccades - latency, amplitude, and velocity - remain stable during passive head movements, suggesting they function as a reflexive, ballistic response rather than an adaptable mechanism. Thus, while covert saccades are not reliable indicators of compensation progress, their presence indicates persisting vestibular dysfunction.



Figure 13. Presence of corrective saccades during ipsilesional (pink) and contralesional (blue) head impulses from the first week to 12 months after AUVP onset. Bars represent mean values; error bars indicate standard error of the mean (SEM). The number of patients (n) exhibiting corrective saccades at each time point is shown above each bar. Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc p-values are reported numerically.



Figure 14. Evolution of saccadic properties from AUVP onset to 12 months post-diagnosis for ipsilesional (pink) and contralesional (blue) saccades. The top graph shows peak saccade velocity, and the bottom graph displays peak saccade latency. Bars represent mean values, and error bars indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM).

Discussion

Corticosteroid treatment for AUVP?

The main finding in our material is that corticosteroids do not enhance recovery as measured by a caloric test or vHIT. Neither does it reduce symptoms in the acute or chronic phase of AUVP.

The findings of Paper I and II are contradictory, reflecting the overall uncertainty surrounding the efficacy of corticosteroid treatment in AUVP. The largest RCT¹¹⁰ exploring the effect of corticosteroids in AUVP demonstrated a significant effect on caloric responsiveness. Other studies reported enhanced vestibular recovery, as measured by caloric responses, following corticosteroid treatment^{150, 178}. However, these studies were not randomized, nor blinded. Two randomized controlled studies ^{111, 148} found that corticosteroids may accelerate an early caloric recovery, but did not demonstrate superior long-term outcomes. Other RCTs of similar size failed to show any effect on caloric responsiveness^{112, 152}.

One potential factor influencing the caloric test outcomes in Paper II was the relatively broad inclusion criteria. Inclusion was based on clinical symptoms and bedside examination protocols recommended by the Bárány Society, without requiring a pathological caloric asymmetry. As a result, some patients had only mild asymmetries at baseline, leaving limited room for measurable improvement. In contrast, a recent double-blind randomized controlled trial from Switzerland not yet published but criteria available at clinical trails.com (NCT05024448) presented at the Bárány Society meeting¹⁷⁹ required a caloric asymmetry of greater than 70% for inclusion, yet still failed to demonstrate any significant effect of corticosteroid treatment. This suggests that even in patients with pronounced vestibular deficits, corticosteroids may not provide a measurable benefit.

Another possible explanation for the beneficial effect on caloric responsiveness reported in some previous studies is the potential influence of corticosteroids on vestibular hydrops. Corticosteroids have been shown to affect water channel regulation in the inner ear¹⁸⁰ potentially influencing endolymphatic hydrops, and have also been reported to reduce vertigo and hearing symptoms in patients with Ménière's disease¹⁸¹. The observed effect may therefore be attributable to a subset of patients misclassified as having AUVP who were, in fact, experiencing a first episode of Ménière's disease, which can present with similar clinical features. We

attempted to analyze outcomes in patients with a pathological caloric test but a normal vHIT at the first examination - an indicator that may suggest Ménière's disease - but the sample size was too small to allow for meaningful statistical analysis. Furthermore, all patients that evolved episodic vertigo during the study were excluded. Another differential diagnosis is canalith jam, a rare form of Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo (BPPV) caused by complete obstruction of the lateral canal with otoconia. This condition can mimic AUVP both symptomatically and clinically. Some patients - particularly those with symptom onset in the morning (a common feature in BPPV) and rapid recovery - may have had canalith jam. A retrospective analysis exploring these diagnostic subgroups within the study population would be of interest.

Another factor that may influence the effectiveness of corticosteroid treatment is the timing of its initiation. Studies on Bell's palsy have shown that corticosteroids are most effective when administered within 48 hours of symptom onset, with even greater benefits observed when treatment begins within 24 hours ¹⁸². This finding formed the basis for the hypothesis explored in Paper I, which suggested a similar time-dependent effect in patients with AUVP. As a result, early intervention defined as initiating treatment within 48 hours—was established as a key inclusion criterion in the study presented in Paper II. However, no significant effect of corticosteroid treatment was observed, despite all patients receiving treatment within 48 hours. Further subgroup analyses of patients who began treatment within 24 hours-and even within 12 hours - also failed to demonstrate any measurable benefit. Most previous studies have used a broader inclusion window of up to 72 hours, with mixed results as stated above. Notably, Goudakos et al.¹⁴⁸ initiated corticosteroid treatment within 48 hours and observed an accelerated recovery in caloric function; however, this effect did not persist at long-term follow-up, with no sustained advantage over placebo.

One could argue that post-hoc analysis revealed a significant reduction in caloric asymmetry over time only in patients treated with corticosteroids, suggesting a potential therapeutic effect. However, whether corticosteroids influence caloric function appears to have limited clinical relevance, as no differences - not even a trend - were observed in self-perceived symptoms or dizziness-related handicap between the treatment and placebo groups, either in the acute phase or at long-term follow-up in our study. This finding aligns with several other studies that have similarly reported no long-term benefit of corticosteroids on self-rated symptoms or dizziness-related disability^{111, 112, 148, 152, 157, 179}. Corticosteroids are widely used in clinical practice for the prevention and management of postoperative nausea and vomiting^{183, 184}, and this effect may potentially offer short-term relief for patients with AUVP. Indeed, one study have shown that corticosteroids provide better symptom relief from vertigo and nausea in the first few days after onset compared to placebo¹⁵⁶ and a retrospective cohort found that it reduced perceived dizziness-related handicap during the first week¹⁵⁵. However, two more studies have failed to

demonstrate a significant effect on vertigo or nausea in the acute phase of AUVP¹⁵⁷, 158 .

While the largest RCT to date¹¹⁰ did demonstrate a positive effect of corticosteroids on caloric responsiveness, it is important to note that caloric testing evaluates vestibular function at low frequencies⁷⁷ - levels not typically engaged in daily life^{89, ⁹⁰ - and correlates poorly with subjective symptoms and functional handicap¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁸. Furthermore, in our study, corticosteroids showed no beneficial effect on vestibular function as measured by vHIT, which evaluates high-frequency responses more representative of real-life movements. This finding aligns with the results of Yoo et al.¹¹², who also found no significant improvement in VOR recovery among corticosteroid-treated patients. Therefore, even if corticosteroids influence caloric outcomes, their overall impact on meaningful clinical recovery remains questionable.}

On the other hand, placebo interventions generally have no major physiological effect. Placebo can influence patient-reported outcomes, particularly in the short term¹⁸⁹. For the questionnaires administered at 3 and 12 months, the placebo effect is expected to be minimal. However, the close monitoring of patients during the first four weeks may have amplified the placebo response. Additionally, the experience of receiving a treatment - compared to not receiving one - is inherently different and may further enhance perceived improvement due to psychological and contextual factors.

In our study, no serious adverse events were observed; however, analyses of private insurance claims involving 1.5 million individuals have shown significantly increased rates of sepsis, venous thromboembolism, and fractures associated with systemic steroid therapy - even for short treatment durations¹⁹⁰. We did not see any psychiatric side effects but they can arise at any point during treatment, most commonly early in the course of therapy¹⁹¹.

Despite a substantial body of evidence questioning the efficacy of corticosteroids, they remain the most used treatment for AUVP¹⁶⁹. This may, in part, reflect the limited availability of alternative treatment options. In contrast, there is moderate to strong evidence supporting the effectiveness of vestibular rehabilitation¹⁷⁰, which should ideally be initiated as early as possible. However, for many patients, the idea of performing movement-based exercises in the first days following AUVP can feel overwhelming or even intolerable.

Antiemetic medications are frequently prescribed to alleviate nausea and prevent vomiting, but their sedative properties may inadvertently delay the start of vestibular rehabilitation and interfere with central compensatory mechanisms¹⁴¹. Animal studies have shown that suppressing vestibular symptoms too early can reduce the physiological drive for central compensation, potentially prolonging imbalance and delaying recovery¹⁹². More recent human studies support this notion, suggesting that early symptom suppression may indeed hinder the natural compensatory process¹⁹³.

In Paper II, patients reported whether they used antiemetic medications. We analyzed differences in antiemetic use between the corticosteroid and placebo groups and found no significant difference. However, we did not assess whether antiemetic use was associated with prolonged symptoms and elevated handicap - a question that warrants further investigation.

The most effective long-term approach may be to allow patients to experience discomfort in the acute phase. Encouraging early mobilization and rehabilitation—despite the initial distress - will ultimately lead to better recovery outcomes. In other words, helping patients understand the importance of pushing through the acute symptoms may be the most compassionate and effective strategy.

Corrective saccades compensate for a disrupted VOR in self-generated movements

In patients with complete vestibular loss due to deafferentation - such as following translabyrinthine schwannoma surgery - the VOR is abolished, resulting in an inability to stabilize gaze during head movements. In our studies (Papers III and IV), these patients demonstrated covert saccades in response to passive head impulses, with an even higher frequency observed during active head movements. In Paper III, we found that active head movements toward the lesioned side elicited covert saccades with shorter latencies. These results align with previous studies showing that covert saccades occur during both passive and active movements¹⁹⁴ but are more frequent and exhibit shorter latencies when the movements are active^{133, 195} or predictable^{196, 197}. Furthermore, active head movements improved visual performance compared to passive movements, resulting in visual performance comparable to head rotations toward the intact side—an effect also reported in earlier research¹³⁴. In Paper IV, we demonstrated that during active head rotations toward the lesioned side, the position error between the eye and head remained within - or close to - the threshold required for brief visual perception. We also found a strong correlation between the position error and the latency of the covert saccade. Subsequent research has since confirmed this observation¹⁹⁸. Given that visual input is suppressed during saccadic eve movements due to saccadic suppression¹⁹⁹, the improvement in visual performance cannot be attributed solely to the presence of saccades. Rather, it depends on their timing - they must be initiated early enough to effectively substitute for the deficient VOR. The extremely short latencies of these covert saccades during self-generated movements suggest they are unlikely to be driven by feedback reflexes, which would be too slow to account for such rapid responses.

Vestibular recovery and compensation after AUVP

Following AUVP, recovery on the lesioned side - as assessed by both caloric responsiveness and vHIT gain - can be observed over the course of the first year. These findings are consistent with previous studies reporting improvements in caloric function²⁰⁰⁻²⁰² and vHIT gain^{203, 204}. In our study, the most pronounced recovery occurred within the first three months, after which the results plateaued an observation also reported by Yoo et al.¹¹². This early improvement likely reflects restorative processes in the VOR, including the sprouting of intact vestibular nerve fibers and the formation of new synapses in the deafferented vestibular nuclei¹²⁶. Additionally, increased post-synaptic receptor density may enhance the responsiveness of remaining vestibular inputs^{127, 205}. The critical window for these adaptive changes appears to be within the first few months following the lesion. resembling the neuroplasticity observed during post-stroke rehabilitation²⁰⁶. Importantly, these compensatory mechanisms are highly dependent on sensory input - particularly movement - underscoring the critical role of early vestibular rehabilitation in promoting recovery^{207, 208}. Notably, studies have shown that initiating vestibular rehabilitation within two weeks of symptom onset can reduce dizziness and improve VOR gain ²⁰⁹ and may also have a positive impact on caloric responsiveness and overall balance function²¹⁰.

Corrective saccades compensate for the disrupted VOR, bringing the eves back on target, making them part of the compensational process. Previous studies have suggested that the initial saccade response may shift from overt to covert saccades over time¹³⁷ and that covert saccade latencies may shorten as compensation progresses - even during passive, unpredictable movements - potentially reflecting successful vestibular adaptation^{107, 138}. However, our findings did not support this pattern of transition. At disorder onset covert saccades and overt saccades were present in the majority of patients, but as they recovered the presence of both covert and overt saccades decreased which is in concordance with other studies evaluation the presences of corrective saccades post AUVP^{211, 212}. In our study, the properties of covert saccades - latency, velocity, and amplitude - remained stable over time, regardless of the position error between the eye and head at saccade onset. Clustering of saccades during passive head movements has also been proposed as a marker of successful vestibular compensation²¹³⁻²¹⁵. We did not specifically assess clustering but the narrow variation in saccade latency suggests that such clustering was not present in our cohort. These findings align with previous studies in patients with complete vestibular loss following translabyrinthine surgery²¹⁶ and in individuals with AUVP assessed before and after vestibular rehabilitation²¹⁷. Both studies reported no major temporal changes in covert saccade properties. The consistency of these properties implies that covert saccades are not subject to adaptation over time, despite evident clinical compensation.

Moreover, the presence of covert and overt saccades did not significantly correlate with subjective vertigo symptoms or self-perceived handicap over time. This suggests that while saccadic compensation mechanisms are activated following vestibular dysfunction, their presence alone is not a reliable predictor of symptom severity as experienced by the patient. No association was found between the specific properties of covert saccades and self-rated well-being. In contrast, adaptive changes were observed in the characteristics of overt saccades which also showed a correlation with subjective well-being at the one-month follow-up in concordance with previous research²¹⁸, indicating that these may play a more meaningful role in perceived recovery.

Rather than representing an adaptive response to gaze position error, covert saccades may function as ballistic reflexes triggered by insufficient vestibular input. Although they serve a compensatory role by reducing eye-head position error, their occurrence appears to reflect low VOR gain (in our study, <0.6) and persistent vestibular hypofunction. If covert saccades indeed operate as ballistic reflexes, their capacity for adaptation - such as through clustering - seems unlikely. In a clinical setting the presence of covert saccades should not be interpreted as a sign of successful compensation but rather as evidence of a persistently hypo-functioning VOR.

What triggers covert saccades?

Corrective saccades are typically categorized as covert if they occur during head movement, and overt if they are triggered after the head has stopped moving. This terminology is widely used in clinical practice due to its simplicity and intuitive nature. An alternative classification describes saccades based on their order of appearance - first, second, third, and so on. Both approaches are commonly used in research, each with its own advantages and limitations. The covert/overt distinction relies solely on the timing of the saccade relative to head movement, not on its underlying neurophysiological mechanism. For example, a saccade occurring just milliseconds after the head stops will be labelled as overt, despite likely sharing the same neural origin as a covert saccade. Conversely, classifying saccades by their sequence can group together saccades with fundamentally different physiological origins. For instance, a patient who initially exhibits only overt saccades may, following vestibular deafferentation, begin to generate both covert and overt saccades. In this scenario, the overt saccade that was previously labelled as the "first saccade" would now be classified as the "second saccade," simply because a covert saccade has emerged. Thus, while both classification systems provide useful insights, neither is without limitations, and this should be kept in mind when interpreting or analyzing corrective saccades.

Visual information - particularly retinal slip, or the movement of an image across the retina that results in blurred vision - has been proposed as a primary trigger for saccades. Van Nechel et al demonstrated that the presence of covert saccades doubled when patients with bilateral vestibular loss were tested in a well-lit room compared to complete darkness but found no effect on the latency to the first saccade ¹³⁹. Pogson et al. demonstrated that in patients with bilateral vestibular loss, testing in complete darkness - i.e., in the absence of visual cues - led to a shorter latency of the first saccade and a reduced frequency of second saccades. This suggests that only covert saccades were triggered, and inspection of raw data traces indicated that they were consistently triggered at the same time point. Moreover, in patients with complete unilateral vestibular loss, the frequency and characteristics of the first saccade remained unchanged regardless of the presence or absence of visual input²¹⁹. Further, Hermann et al demonstrated that patients with bilateral vestibular loss triggered covert saccades in the compensatory direction despite conflicting or misleading visual cues²²⁰.

Iwasaki et al²²¹ investigated the role of neck proprioception in triggering corrective saccades in patients with unilateral and bilateral vestibular loss. They applied horizontal head impulses and whole-body rotations with the neck fixed to suppress sensory input from the neck. Their results showed that overt saccades were reduced by 50% when neck input was blocked, while covert saccades remained unaffected, suggesting different triggering mechanisms for the two. Supporting this, studies in rhesus monkeys have shown that within one day of vestibular loss, neurons in the vestibular nuclei begin responding strongly to neck proprioception - a phenomenon absent in healthy animals¹⁴⁰. The same study also concluded that active movements resulted in eve movements that compensated better for the insufficient VOR compared to passive movements. This suggests that when the VOR is disrupted the brain relies more on the cervical-ocular reflex (COR) and uses motor efference copy information to maintain a stable gaze during head movements. Further supporting the efference copy theory, several human studies, including ours, have demonstrated that active or predictable head movements enhance VOR gain and improve gaze stabilization more effectively than passive movements following a complete vestibular loss due to translabyrinthine surgery²²²⁻²²⁴. For passive movements there is a very moderate VOR improvement in both the acute and chronic phase^{216, 225}. However if covert saccades are triggered by motor efference copy—a feedforward signal representing the intended cortical motor command it raises the question of why some saccades have latencies at all and why some head impulses trigger more than one saccade.

Residual or contralateral vestibular input has also been proposed as a possible trigger for covert saccades⁸¹. When input from one vestibular organ is lost, the inhibitory commissural signal to the contralateral vestibular nucleus is disrupted. The lost "off-signal" could be a potential trigger of covert saccades. Horizontal saccades generated while the head is stationary are initiated by excitatory burst

neurons located in the paramedian pontine reticular formation¹⁹⁹. It has been shown that vestibular input can enhance the firing of these burst neurons via projections from the superior colliculus, with latencies as short as $2-4 \text{ ms}^{226}$. Notably, burst neuron activity increases during contralateral horizontal head rotation and decreases during ipsilateral rotation, indicating modulation by vestibular signals. Theoretically, if the inhibitory commissural signal ("off-signal") to the contralateral vestibular nucleus is lost-as in unilateral vestibular loss-this disinhibition could further enhance burst neuron excitability, potentially facilitating the generation of short latency covert saccades. Covert saccades for passive, unpredictable movements are triggered within 150 ms from when the head starts to move, the typical duration of a head impulse, but latencies can be as low as $\sim 70 \text{ ms}^{81, 131}$. Given that saccades are elicited roughly 50 ms after superior colliculus activation¹⁹⁹, the full vestibular-to-saccade pathway would remain within the latency window of covert saccades. However, covert saccades are triggered in patients with bilateral vestibular loss²¹⁹, where no off-signal from either ear should exist. The explanation may lie in minimal residual vestibular function, which is often present even in cases of presumed complete bilateral vestibular loss. In rare cases of surgical bilateral deafferentation-where no residual vestibular function remains-corrective saccades occur with longer latencies, typically after head movement has stopped²¹⁹, suggesting they may instead be triggered by visual or somatosensory input.

This interplay between vestibular input and saccade generation highlights the complexity of covert saccade initiation. Building on this, the role of vestibular input in suppressing reflexive eye movements—such as saccades and blinks—during head motion may be another explanation why covert saccades emerge when vestibular function is compromised.

During rapid head movements, such as those elicited during the head impulse test, healthy individuals typically maintain gaze stability, either by blinking or initiating compensatory eve movements in the direction opposite to head motion, unless instructed otherwise²²⁷. The ability to maintain clear vision during head movements relies on suppression of reflexive eye movements, such as blinks and saccades, and also requires a suppression of the head turn-evoked vestibular-ocular reflex. Vestibular input plays a crucial role in this process²²⁸. Given the physiological similarities between the blink reflex and saccades in visual perception, it is postulated that vestibular stimulation may inhibit saccades as well. Therefore, in the presence of a vestibular deficit, the reduced vestibular input may compromise the ability to suppress reflexive eye movements. Consequently, the absence of suppression of saccades during head turns would lead to the appearance of covert saccades. These covert saccades, if present, should have a latency similar to that of blinks. Furthermore, catch-up saccades following the covert saccade should appear after approximately 100 milliseconds plus the latency of the saccade²²⁹. The automatic nature of the reflex-like behaviour suggests that the amplitude of the saccades might be relatively stimulus-independent.

In summary, overt saccades appear to be influenced by both visual and somatosensory input, while covert saccades during active head movements are likely driven by efference copy mechanisms. In contrast, the triggers for covert saccades during passive, unpredictable movements remain poorly understood. Visual input is an unlikely factor, as covert saccades occur with similar timing even in complete darkness. Somatosensory cues from the neck also appear insufficient, given that covert saccades persist with the same latency and frequency when the neck is immobilized. One hypothesis is that residual vestibular input—or the loss of the vestibular "off-signal" from the intact ear—may serve as a trigger. However, this fails to fully explain the presence of covert saccades in patients with bilateral vestibular loss. It is possible that, in non-surgically deafferented cases, minimal residual input continues to reach the vestibular nuclei. Alternatively, the absence of vestibular input may unmask a phylogenetically older, latent saccadic system but this remains to be further studied. Ultimately, the precise trigger for covert saccades remains unknown and warrants further investigation.

Methodological considerations

In addition to the method-specific limitations discussed in the background section, there are also some general methodological considerations that warrant attention.

Study I was a retrospective analysis of patients treated with corticosteroids. Compared to the randomized controlled design of Study II, its methodology was less robust, and the use of a 32% cut-off for pathological caloric asymmetry is not the most widely accepted threshold but was presented by Herzog et al¹⁷⁴. Cut-off values for unilateral vestibulopathy up to 40% is still used at some centers¹⁶⁹. The study was included in this thesis to illustrate the conflicting evidence surrounding corticosteroid use in AUVP and to highlight why a symptom duration of less than 48 hours became a key inclusion criterion in Study II. Notably, in Study II, no effect of corticosteroids was observed—even when treatment was initiated within 24 or 12 hours of symptom onset. The results of Study I should therefore not be interpreted as conclusive evidence for corticosteroid treatment, but rather as part of the research rationale that formed the design of the subsequent, more rigorous Study II.

In Paper II, only 72 out of 350 assessed patients were included in the study. The majority were excluded for not meeting inclusion criteria (n=92), most commonly due to symptom duration exceeding 48 hours (n=68), meeting exclusion criteria (n=54), or being treated at another clinic (n=82). Additionally, 45 patients (13%) declined participation. It is possible that those who declined experienced more severe vestibular loss and symptoms, which may introduce selection bias. However, no baseline differences were observed between the treatment groups, and only three patients were lost to follow-up, supporting the study's high internal validity. The

large proportion of eligible but ultimately excluded patients highlights the reality that many individuals seek medical care later than 48 hours after symptom onset and illustrates the practical challenges of conducting high-quality research in acute clinical settings, where time pressure and the need for written informed consent may hinder inclusion.

The sample size in Papers III and IV was relatively small, which increases the risk of Type II errors - that is, failing to detect a true significant effect. However, power calculations confirmed that the sample was sufficient, and several significant differences between active and passive head movements were identified. While small samples can also raise the risk of Type I errors (false positives), the consistency of our findings with those reported in other studies strengthens their validity^{133, 195}.

In Study III and study IV, eye-tracking during vHIT and functional performance during fHIT were not measured simultaneously and by the same measurement devices, which complicates direct comparisons between vHIT metrics like position error and fHIT outcomes such as perceptual accuracy. However, both measurement devices applied the same inclusion criteria for accepting a head thrust as correctly performed, e.g., that it had the same minimum peak head velocity, meaning the assessment procedure and the definitions of time phases analyzed during the head thrusts were consistent across the vHIT and fHIT assessments.

Future perspectives

Although a single study is not sufficient to definitively rule out the effectiveness of corticosteroids in treating acute unilateral vestibulopathy (AUVP), it contributes to the growing body of evidence questioning their clinical utility. Future research should aim to strengthen this evidence. By incorporating a third study arm with randomization to no pharmacotherapy the role of the placebo effect—particularly in relation to patient-reported outcomes should be further evaluated.

A cornerstone of high-quality research is comparability; thus, future studies should standardize treatment protocols by initiating corticosteroid therapy within the same time window, using consistent dosing regimens, and assessing both functional recovery and subjective well-being.

A standardized terminology for corrective saccades would simplify comparison of results.

Simultaneously performing vHIT and a dynamic visual task such as fHIT could strengthen the observed relationship between corrective saccades and visual performance, while also providing deeper insight into the mechanisms that trigger these saccades. Further exploration of saccadic behavior in patients with complete or incomplete, unilateral or bilateral vestibular loss - particularly when combined with cerebellar dysfunction and particularly if the assessments both were performed in light and completely dark environment - could provide a more comprehensive understanding of the multisensory and contextual factors involved in saccade generation.

Given the limited correlation between caloric test results, vHIT gain, and patients perceived recovery, covert saccades have been considered a promising indicator of vestibular compensation. Our findings suggest they may instead reflect persistent dysfunction. Importantly, most head movements in daily life are self-generated, yet current vestibular testing relies almost exclusively on passive stimulation. The neural mechanisms engaged during active head movements likely differ from those during passive motion, in both healthy and vestibular-impaired individuals. Therefore, future studies should also evaluate vestibular compensation during active movements following AUVP, which may offer a more realistic and functionally meaningful measure of recovery.

Conclusions

- After AUVP there is significant recovery of vestibular function as measured by both caloric responsiveness and vHIT, with the greatest recovery seen during the first three months.
- Corticosteroid treatment does not improve symptoms in either the acute or chronic phase of AUVP, nor does it enhance vestibular function as measured by caloric responsiveness or vHIT. However, the standard corticosteroid regimen used in southern Sweden and applied in this study was safe, with no serious adverse events reported.
- Self-generated head movements towards the ear with a complete vestibular loss trigger short-latency covert saccades that reposition the eyes more effectively during head motion, allowing gaze stability comparable to that achieved when moving toward an intact vestibular organ.
- Following AUVP, vestibular function improved over time, accompanied by a gradual reduction in both covert and overt saccades. VOR recovery displayed a variable pattern, with the degree of VOR gain deficit influencing the type of compensatory saccades: covert saccades were linked to lower gain values, while overt saccades appeared with higher gains.
- For passive head movements the properties of covert saccades latency, amplitude, and velocity remained stable over time, suggesting they function as a ballistic, reflexive response rather than an adaptable mechanism. Therefore, while covert saccades may not be helpful for monitoring vestibular compensation, their presence remains a strong indicator of persistent vestibular dysfunction.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Bakgrund

Vestibularisneurit – ofta kallad "virus på balansnerven" – är en vanlig orsak till akut vrsel och drabbar cirka 1 000 personer per år i Sverige. Tillståndet orsakas troligen av att ett vilande herpesvirus (Herpes simplex typ 1) reaktiveras och orsakar en inflammation i balansnerven, vilket leder till svullnad, inklämning och funktionsförlust. Vid insjuknandet får hjärnan bara signaler från det friska balansorganet, vilket hjärnan tolkar som en kraftig rörelse mot den friska sidan, ofta med intensiv yrsel och illamående som följd. De akuta symtomen avtar vanligtvis inom några veckor, men många patienter upplever kvarstående vrsel och suddig syn vid huvudrörelse. Balansorganen står i nära förbindelse med ögonens muskler genom en reflexkedja – den vestibulo-okulära reflexen (VOR) – som håller blicken kvar på den punkt vi fokuserar på när vi rör på huvudet. När denna reflexkedja inte fungerar som den ska glider blicken med huvudrörelsen, och synen blir suddig. Hjärnan försöker kompensera för detta genom att ögonen gör snabba korrigerande rörelser (sackader) tillbaka till den punkt som man försökte fokusera på. Om dessa korrigerande ögonrörelser sker efter huvudrörelsen avstannat kallas de overta sackader, och om de sker under huvudrörelsens gång kallas de coverta sackader. Det är fortfarande oklart hur effektiv kompensationen med snabba ögonrörelser är, och om förekomsten och egenskaperna hos av dessa ögonrörelser kan användas som ett mått på grad av återhämtning efter en skada på balansorganen.

Vissa studier har visat att behandling med kortison kan göra att funktionen i balansorganen återkommer bättre och att man känner mindre symptom i den akuta fasen. Andra studier har inte visat på samma goda effekt. Behandling med kortison under en kort tid kan medföra biverkningar, som oftast inte är farliga, men som kan vara besvärliga för patienterna.

Syfte

Det övergripande målet med avhandlingen var att utvärdera om kortisonbehandling förbättrar återkomsten av balansorganens funktion efter vestibularisneurit samt att öka kunskapen om de kompensationsmekanismer som träder i kraft efter en ensidig förlust av balansfunktion.

Studie I-V

Studie I, inkluderade en retrospektiv analys som utvärderade om en tidig behandlingsstart med kortison inom 24 timmar efter ett insjuknande i vestibularisneurit ledde till bättre återkomst av balansorganens funktion, uppmätt med kalorisk spolning, jämfört med om man fick kortisonbehandling först mellan 25–72 timmar efter ett insjuknande. Studien indikerade att så var fallet; alla patienter som fick kortisonbehandling inom 24 h efter symptomdebut hade normala resultat i det kaloriska testet vid uppföljning. Detta resultat låg till grund för inklusionskriterierna i studie II.

Studie II, var en dubbelblind, randomiserad och placebokontrollerad studie som utvärderade om kortisonbehandling förbättrade återkomsten av balansorganens funktion och förbättrade måendet hos patienter som insjuknat med vestibularisneurit. Subjektivt välbefinnande och balansfunktion, mätt med både kalorisk spolning och vHIT utvärderades från vid initialt insjuknande och upp till ett år efter insjuknandet. Vi fann att kortisonbehandling inte hade någon effekt på vare sig subjektivt mående eller återkomst av balansorganens funktion. Återhämtningen skedde successivt hos alla, oavsett behandling, med störst förbättring under de första tre månaderna.

Studie III utvärderade hur huvudrörelser initierade av patienterna själva (aktiva rörelser) eller av en undersökare (passiva rörelser) påverkade synförmågan under huvudrörelse hos patienter med en ensidig total förlust av balansorganens funktion. Bakgrunden är att en ensidig totalförlust alltid leder till en ofullständig VOR vilket i sin tur leder till att blicken ej kan stabiliseras perfekt vid rörelser mot sidan med funktionsförlust. Vi fann att aktiva rörelser gav en nästan normal synförmåga under huvudrörelse medan passiva rörelser resulterade i en kraftig nedsättning av synförmågan. Aktiva rörelser skapade coverta sackader som kom mycket tidigare under huvudrörelsen jämfört med passiva rörelser.

Studie IV utvärderade varför synförmågan var bättre vid aktiva jämfört med passiva huvudrörelser hos patienter med en ensidig total balansorgansförlust. Vi fann att vid aktiva huvudrörelser låg ögat närmare fokuseringsmålet vid den tidpunkt då synförmågan mättes, så pass nära att en avläsning skulle ha varit möjlig. Vid passiva huvudrörelser låg ögat långt ifrån fokuseringsmålet vid samma tidpunkt. Förklaringen tycks vara att när patienten själv vrider huvudet så skapas coverta sackader så pass tidigt under huvudrörelsen att ögat ligger på rätt plats när synförmågan testas.

Studie V utvärderade återkomsten av balansorganens funktion, utvecklingen av korrigerande sackader och subjektivt mående från insjuknandet i vestibularisneurit upp till ett år efter skadan. Vi fann att förekomsten av och styrkan hos korrigerande sackader minskade parallellt med att balansfunktionen återkom. Coverta sackader var associerade med betydande funktionsnedsättning och dess egenskaper förblev

oförändrade över tid. Det fanns ingen korrelation mellan coverta sackader och subjektivt mående.

Sammanfattning

Kortisonbehandling verkar inte förbättra återkomsten av balansorganens funktion eller förbättra mående vid vestibularisneurit. Återkomsten av balansorganens funktion sker spontant, med störst förbättring under de första tre månaderna. Förekomsten av coverta sackader skapade av passiva rörelser verkar inte var ett mått på en framgångsrik kompensation utan är snarare ett tecken på kvarstående funktionsförlust. Men coverta sackader skapade under aktiva rörelser förbättrar tydligt synförmågan vid huvudrörelser och kompenserar för en utslagen VOR.

Acknowledgements

Först och främst vill jag rikta ett innerligt tack till alla patienter som deltagit i våra kliniska studier och därigenom gjort detta arbete möjligt. Ett stort tack riktas också till Lunds universitet och Region Skåne för att ha möjliggjort denna avhandling.

Vidare vill jag även tacka alla skattebetalare som via skattemedel finansierar forskning, i mitt fall via **ALF-medel** och **Regionalt forskningsstöd**. Jag vill även tacka stiftelsen **ACTA Otorhinolaryngologica** för de forskningsmedel jag tilldelats. Denna avhandling hade inte blivit till utan sammanhängande perioder av arbete på dagtid.

Att få doktorera har varit en sann ynnest och jag är djupt tacksam för denna möjlighet. Det finns många som jag vill tacka:

Fredrik Tjernström, min huvudhandledare – tack för att du både introducerade mig till forskning i allmänhet och den vestibulära forskningen i synnerhet. Tack för allt du lärt mig, för alla dörrar du öppnat och för ditt orubbliga stöd. Jag har verkligen känt att du trott på mig hela vägen.

Per-Anders Fransson, min handledare – tack för ditt stora engagemang, din uppmuntran, din ovärderliga hjälp med statistiken och för att du alltid funnits där med snabba svar och kloka råd.

Mikael Karlberg, handledare – tack för dina kloka tankar och fina formuleringar.

Måns Magnusson, professor och inofficiell handledare – tack för alla inspirerande idéer och den värdefulla vägledning du bidragit med.

Karin, Dan och **Anastasia** på balanslabbet – tack för alla snygga vHIT-kurvor, er stora hjälpsamhet och alla trevliga samtal.

Alla kollegor på ÖNH-kliniken SUS, Helsingborg och Kristianstad – tack för ert tålamod och er insats med att inkludera patienter i kortisonstudien, även när det var kämpigt. Ert arbete har haft stor betydelse.

Ett alldeles särskilt tack till **alla kollegor på ÖNH-kliniken SUS** – världens finaste kollegor – för all er värme, all den kunskap ni delat med er av, och för att ni stöttat mig genom att ta mina jourer och ta hand om mina patienter när jag varit iväg och forskat.
Pernilla Björnberg – tack för att du friställt mig från kliniken och gjort det möjligt för mig att få längre sammanhållna forskningsperioder, något som varit avgörande för att kunna komma vidare.

Peter White och **Arni Örnolfsson** – tack för förståelse, flexibilitet och kontinuerlig och lågmäld psykoterapi i from av kaffebryggning och generell omtanke.

Eva Nero – tack för all hjälp med dechiffreringen av det ekonomiska systemet, hade inte klarat av det utan dig.

Johannes Ehinger – tack för de avgörande råden som ledde till ALF-finansiering för ST-läkare. Utan din hjälp, ingen forskningstid – och därmed ingen avhandling.

Magdalena Karnebäck – tack för de vackra illustrationerna i avhandlingen och för din kärlek och vänskap. Du är en sann konstnär och en sann vän.

Matthew Burne – tack för den vackra framsidan till min avhandling.

Kristina Nordenson – tack för korrläsning, kärlek och allmän psykisk grundning.

Ett stort tack för all uppmuntran till **mina vänner från norr till söder** och **öster** till **väster**. Jag är lyckligt lottad som har de smartaste, roligaste, varmaste och vackraste vännerna i hela världen.

Ann-Christine och Janne, mina svärföräldrar – tack för all hjälp och allt stöd. Anki du är en sann inspiration!

Familjen Nystedt – tack för att ni underhållit och tagit hand om min familj när jag suttit framför datorn.

Tack till mina fantastiska kollegor och innerliga vänner **Franzi, Sabine, Emma, Emma och Johanna** – tack för att ni gör varje dag på jobbet till en glädje, för alla era kloka tankar om allt från himmel till jord och för allt roligt vi gjort tillsammans. Vad skulle jag göra utan er?

Min älskade bror **Viktor** och världens bästa svägerska **Maria** – tack för allt stöd och kärlek. Jag är så glad och stolt att just ni är en del av min familj.

Mamma och pappa – tack för att ni har givit mig allt. Jag vore inte den jag är utan er och skulle aldrig ha kommit någon vart utan er som inspiration, ert stöd och framförallt all den kärlek som ni marinerat mig i.

Louise och **Selma** – min största prestation, min stora lycka! Tack för er oändliga kärlek och för att ni sätter mig på plats på kontinuerlig basis.

Och slutligen, älskade **Andreas**. Utan dig hade denna avhandling aldrig blivit verklighet. Tack för allt ditt stöd, all tid du ordnat för mitt skrivande och i synnerhet din matematiska expertis. Tack för att du är du – och för att du är min!

References

- Graf WM. Evolution of the Vestibular System. In: Binder MD, Hirokawa N, Windhorst U, editors. Encyclopedia of Neuroscience. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2009. p. 1440-8.
- 2. Wiest G. The origins of vestibular science. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2015;1343:1-9.
- Halmagyi GM, Curthoys IS. A clinical sign of canal paresis. Arch Neurol. 1988;45(7):737-9.
- MacDougall HG, Weber KP, McGarvie LA, Halmagyi GM, Curthoys IS. The video head impulse test: diagnostic accuracy in peripheral vestibulopathy. Neurology. 2009;73(14):1134-41.
- Kerber KA, Callaghan BC, Telian SA, Meurer WJ, Skolarus LE, Carender W, et al. Dizziness Symptom Type Prevalence and Overlap: A US Nationally Representative Survey. Am J Med. 2017;130(12):1465.e1-.e9.
- 6. Kerber KA, Meurer WJ, West BT, Fendrick AM. Dizziness presentations in U.S. emergency departments, 1995-2004. Acad Emerg Med. 2008;15(8):744-50.
- Ljunggren M, Persson J, Salzer J. Dizziness and the Acute Vestibular Syndrome at the Emergency Department: A Population-Based Descriptive Study. Eur Neurol. 2018;79(1-2):5-12.
- 8. Friberg E, Rosenhall U, Alexanderson K. Sickness absence due to otoaudiological diagnoses; a descriptive nationwide study. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:635.
- Agrawal Y, Carey JP, Della Santina CC, Schubert MC, Minor LB. Disorders of balance and vestibular function in US adults: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2001-2004. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(10):938-44.
- Ikeda K, Tanaka K, Tajima S, Takakura T, Sugihara M, Ono K. Dizziness and unstable gait in the older adults are associated with vestibular hypofunction, muscle dysfunction and sleep disturbance: impact on prevention of accidental falls. BMC Geriatr. 2024;24(1):1042.
- Step safely: strategies for preventing and managing falls across the life-course [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2021. Available from: https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/978924002191-4.
- Fallolyckor bland äldre en samhällsekonomisk analys och effektiva preventionsåtgärder [Internet]. 2009. Available from: <u>https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publicerat-</u> <u>material/publikationsarkiv/f/fallolyckor-bland-aldre-en-samhallsekonomisk-analys-ocheffektiva-preventionsatgarder-/</u>.
- 13. Oxford English Dictionary. Oxford University Press; 2025. balance, n.¹, sense IV.15.a.

- Forbes PA, Chen A, Blouin JS. Sensorimotor control of standing balance. Handb Clin Neurol. 2018;159:61-83.
- 15. Bradshaw AP, Curthoys IS, Todd MJ, Magnussen JS, Taubman DS, Aw ST, et al. A mathematical model of human semicircular canal geometry: a new basis for interpreting vestibular physiology. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol. 2010;11(2):145-59.
- Ifediba MA, Rajguru SM, Hullar TE, Rabbitt RD. The role of 3-canal biomechanics in angular motion transduction by the human vestibular labyrinth. Ann Biomed Eng. 2007;35(7):1247-63.
- 17. Swenson RS. Chapter 8 The Vestibular System. In: Conn PM, editor. Conn's Translational Neuroscience. San Diego: Academic Press; 2017. p. 167-83.
- 18. Goldberg JM. The vestibular end organs: morphological and physiological diversity of afferents. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1991;1(2):229-35.
- Moini J, LoGalbo A, Ahangari R. Chapter 9 The auditory system. In: Moini J, LoGalbo A, Ahangari R, editors. Foundations of the Mind, Brain, and Behavioral Relationships: Academic Press; 2024. p. 143-60.
- 20. Gianoli G, Goebel J, Mowry S, Poomipannit P. Anatomic differences in the lateral vestibular nerve channels and their implications in vestibular neuritis. Otol Neurotol. 2005;26(3):489-94.
- 21. Goldberg JM. Afferent diversity and the organization of central vestibular pathways. Experimental Brain Research. 2000;130(3):277-97.
- 22. Curthoys IS, MacDougall HG, Vidal PP, de Waele C. Sustained and Transient Vestibular Systems: A Physiological Basis for Interpreting Vestibular Function. Front Neurol. 2017;8:117.
- 23. Vallortigara G. The Efference Copy Signal as a Key Mechanism for Consciousness. Front Syst Neurosci. 2021;15:765646.
- 24. Hain TC. Chapter 12 Cranial Nerve VIII: Vestibulocochlear System. In: Goetz CG, editor. Textbook of Clinical Neurology (Third Edition). Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 2007. p. 199-215.
- 25. Perlman HB, Kimura R, Fernandez C. Experiments on temporary obstruction of the internal auditory artery. The Laryngoscope. 1959;69(6):591-613.
- 26. Cullen KE. Vestibular motor control. Handb Clin Neurol. 2023;195:31-54.
- 27. Khan S, Chang R. Anatomy of the vestibular system: a review. NeuroRehabilitation. 2013;32(3):437-43.
- 28. Bordoni B, Mankowski NL, Daly DT. Neuroanatomy, Cranial Nerve 8 (Vestibulocochlear). StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL)2025.
- 29. Songer JE, Eatock RA. Tuning and timing in mammalian type I hair cells and calyceal synapses. J Neurosci. 2013;33(8):3706-24.
- Aw ST, Halmagyi GM, Haslwanter T, Curthoys IS, Yavor RA, Todd MJ. Threedimensional vector analysis of the human vestibuloocular reflex in response to highacceleration head rotations. II. responses in subjects with unilateral vestibular loss and selective semicircular canal occlusion. Journal of Neurophysiology. 1996;76(6):4021-30.
- Leigh RJaZ, D S. The Neurology of eye movements. 198 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016: Oxford University Press; 2015.

- 32. Ruttin B. Zur differential diagnose der laybrinthu. Horenrverkrankugen Z Ohrenheilk. 1909;57:327-31.
- Strupp M, Bisdorff A, Furman J, Hornibrook J, Jahn K, Maire R, et al. Acute unilateral vestibulopathy/vestibular neuritis: Diagnostic criteria. J Vestib Res. 2022;32(5):389-406.
- 34. Sekitani T, Imate Y, Noguchi T, Inokuma T. Vestibular Neuronitis: Epidemiological Survey by Questionnaire in Japan. Acta Oto-Laryngologica. 1993;113(sup503):9-12.
- 35. Adamec I, Krbot Skorić M, Handžić J, Habek M. Incidence, seasonality and comorbidity in vestibular neuritis. Neurol Sci. 2015;36(1):91-5.
- Iwasaki S, Kawahara T, Miyashita T, Shindo S, Tsubota M, Inoue A, et al. Estimated incidence and characteristics of vestibular neuritis in Japan: A nationwide survey. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2024;51(2):343-6.
- Goplen FK, Wiik R. Patients admitted to hospital for vestibular neuritis in 2011-2021. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2023;143(14).
- 38. M. Strupp TB, M. Dieterich. Vertigo and dizziness common complaints. 3rd edition ed. SpringerNature, editor. London 2022.
- 39. Anttinen A, Lang AH, Aantaa E, Marttila R. Vestibular neuronitis; a neurological and neurophysiological evaluation. Acta Neurol Scand. 1983;67(2):90-6.
- 40. Koors PD, Thacker LR, Coelho DH. Investigation of seasonal variability of vestibular neuronitis. The Journal of Laryngology & Otology. 2013;127(10):968-71.
- 41. Seidel DU, Park JJ, Sesterhenn AM, Kostev K. Demographic data and seasonal variation in peripheral vestibular disorders in ENT practices in Germany. J Vestib Res. 2019;29(4):181-90.
- 42. Jeong J, Nam Y, Oh J, Choi HS. Monthly and seasonal variations in vestibular neuritis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2022;101(26):e29787.
- 43. Huppert D, Strupp M, Theil D, Glaser M, Brandt T. Low recurrence rate of vestibular neuritis: a long-term follow-up. Neurology. 2006;67(10):1870-1.
- 44. Kim YH, Kim KS, Kim KJ, Choi H, Choi JS, Hwang IK. Recurrence of vertigo in patients with vestibular neuritis. Acta Otolaryngol. 2011;131(11):1172-7.
- 45. Kim S, Jung YK, Kim MJ, Kim K-S, Kim HJ. Diagnostic evolution of vestibular neuritis after long-term monitoring. Brazilian Journal of Otorhinolaryngology. 2022;88:S14-S7.
- Mandalà M, Santoro GP, Awrey J, Nuti D. Vestibular neuritis: recurrence and incidence of secondary benign paroxysmal positional vertigo. Acta Otolaryngol. 2010;130(5):565-7.
- 47. Yetiser S. Review of the pathology underlying benign paroxysmal positional vertigo. J Int Med Res. 2020;48(4):300060519892370.
- 48. Castellucci A, Malara P, Brandolini C, Del Vecchio V, Giordano D, Ghidini A, et al. Isolated horizontal canal hypofunction differentiating a canalith jam from an acute peripheral vestibular loss. American Journal of Otolaryngology. 2019;40(2):319-22.
- 49. Karlberg M, Annertz M, Magnusson M. Acute vestibular neuritis visualized by 3-T magnetic resonance imaging with high-dose gadolinium. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2004;130(2):229-32.

- 50. Baloh RW, Ishyama A, Wackym PA, Honrubia V. Vestibular neuritis: clinicalpathologic correlation. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1996;114(4):586-92.
- 51. Arbusow V, Derfuss T, Held K, Himmelein S, Strupp M, Gurkov R, et al. Latency of herpes simplex virus type-1 in human geniculate and vestibular ganglia is associated with infiltration of CD8+ T cells. J Med Virol. 2010;82(11):1917-20.
- 52. Theil D, Arbusow V, Derfuss T, Strupp M, Pfeiffer M, Mascolo A, et al. Prevalence of HSV-1 LAT in human trigeminal, geniculate, and vestibular ganglia and its implication for cranial nerve syndromes. Brain Pathol. 2001;11(4):408-13.
- 53. Rujescu D, Hartmann AM, Giegling I, Konte B, Herrling M, Himmelein S, et al. Genome-Wide Association Study in Vestibular Neuritis: Involvement of the Host Factor for HSV-1 Replication. Front Neurol. 2018;9:591.
- 54. Rujescu D, Herrling M, Hartmann AM, Maul S, Giegling I, Konte B, et al. High-risk Allele for Herpes Labialis Severity at the IFNL3/4 Locus is Associated With Vestibular Neuritis. Front Neurol. 2020;11:570638.
- 55. Buki B, Mair A, Pogson JM, Andresen NS, Ward BK. Three-Dimensional High-Resolution Temporal Bone Histopathology Identifies Areas of Vascular Vulnerability in the Inner Ear. Audiol Neurootol. 2022;27(3):249-59.
- 56. Fetter M, Dichgans J. Vestibular neuritis spares the inferior division of the vestibular nerve. Brain. 1996;119 (Pt 3):755-63.
- 57. von Bernstorff M, Obermueller T, Münst J, Hofmann VM, Pudszuhn A. [Demographic and epidemiological risk factors in patients with acute vestibular neuritis]. Laryngorhinootologie. 2023;102(10):754-61.
- Oron Y, Shemesh S, Shushan S, Cinamon U, Goldfarb A, Dabby R, et al. Cardiovascular Risk Factors Among Patients With Vestibular Neuritis. Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology. 2017;126(8):597-601.
- 59. Armato E, Dumas G, Perottino F, Casteran M, Perrin P. Determination of Recovery by Total Restitution or Compensation Using Multifrequency Vestibular Tests and Subjective Functional Scales in a Human Model of Vestibular Neuritis. Audiol Res. 2024;14(6):958-82.
- 60. Pâris P, Charpiot A, Veillon F, Severac F, Djennaoui I. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in superior vestibular neuritis: A cross-sectional study following STROBE guidelines. Eur Ann Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Dis. 2022;139(4):194-7.
- Coronel-Touma GS, Monopoli-Roca C, Almeida-Ayerve CN, Marcos-Alonso S, Gómez de la Torre-Morales D, Serradilla-López J, et al. Influence of Age and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Vestibular Neuritis: Retrospective Cohort Study. J Clin Med. 2023;12(20).
- 62. Milionis HJ, Mittari V, Exarchakos G, Kalaitzidis R, Skevas AT, Elisaf MS. Lipoprotein (a) and acute-phase response in patients with vestibular neuronitis. Eur J Clin Invest. 2003;33(12):1045-50.
- 63. Kassner SS, Schottler S, Bonaterra GA, Stern-Straeter J, Hormann K, Kinscherf R, et al. Proinflammatory activation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with vestibular neuritis. Audiol Neurootol. 2011;16(4):242-7.
- 64. Tarnutzer AA, Berkowitz AL, Robinson KA, Hsieh YH, Newman-Toker DE. Does my dizzy patient have a stroke? A systematic review of bedside diagnosis in acute vestibular syndrome. Cmaj. 2011;183(9):E571-92.

- 65. Halmagyi GM, Chen L, MacDougall HG, Weber KP, McGarvie LA, Curthoys IS. The Video Head Impulse Test. Front Neurol. 2017;8:258.
- 66. Newman-Toker DE, Kattah JC, Alvernia JE, Wang DZ. Normal head impulse test differentiates acute cerebellar strokes from vestibular neuritis. Neurology. 2008;70(24 Pt 2):2378-85.
- 67. Harvey SA, Wood DJ, Feroah TR. Relationship of the head impulse test and head-shake nystagmus in reference to caloric testing. Am J Otol. 1997;18(2):207-13.
- Yip CW, Glaser M, Frenzel C, Bayer O, Strupp M. Comparison of the Bedside Head-Impulse Test with the Video Head-Impulse Test in a Clinical Practice Setting: A Prospective Study of 500 Outpatients. Front Neurol. 2016;7:58.
- 69. Machner B, Erber K, Choi JH, Trillenberg P, Sprenger A, Helmchen C. Usability of the head impulse test in routine clinical practice in the emergency department to differentiate vestibular neuritis from stroke. Eur J Neurol. 2021;28(5):1737-44.
- Himmelein S, Lindemann A, Sinicina I, Horn AKE, Brandt T, Strupp M, et al. Differential Involvement during Latent Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Infection of the Superior and Inferior Divisions of the Vestibular Ganglia: Implications for Vestibular Neuritis. J Virol. 2017;91(14).
- 71. Kim JS, Kim HJ. Inferior vestibular neuritis. J Neurol. 2012;259(8):1553-60.
- 72. Mantokoudis G, Korda A, Zee DS, Zamaro E, Sauter TC, Wagner F, et al. Bruns' nystagmus revisited: A sign of stroke in patients with the acute vestibular syndrome. Eur J Neurol. 2021;28(9):2971-9.
- 73. Brodsky MC, Donahue SP, Vaphiades M, Brandt T. Skew Deviation Revisited. Survey of Ophthalmology. 2006;51(2):105-28.
- 74. Korda A, Zamaro E, Wagner F, Morrison M, Caversaccio MD, Sauter TC, et al. Acute vestibular syndrome: is skew deviation a central sign? J Neurol. 2022;269(3):1396-403.
- 75. Kattah JC, Talkad AV, Wang DZ, Hsieh YH, Newman-Toker DE. HINTS to diagnose stroke in the acute vestibular syndrome: three-step bedside oculomotor examination more sensitive than early MRI diffusion-weighted imaging. Stroke. 2009;40(11):3504-10.
- 76. Gottlieb M, Peksa GD, Carlson JN. Head impulse, nystagmus, and test of skew examination for diagnosing central causes of acute vestibular syndrome. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2023(11).
- 77. Shepard NT, Jacobson GP. Chapter 9 The caloric irrigation test. In: Furman JM, Lempert T, editors. Handbook of Clinical Neurology. 137: Elsevier; 2016. p. 119-31.
- 78. Fetter M. Chapter 10 Caloric testing: background, technique, and interpretation. Handbook of Clinical Neurophysiology. 9: Elsevier; 2010. p. 135-40.
- Jongkees LB, Maas JP, Philipszoon AJ. Clinical nystagmography. A detailed study of electro-nystagmography in 341 patients with vertigo. Pract Otorhinolaryngol (Basel). 1962;24:65-93.
- 80. Strupp M, Grimberg J, Teufel J, Laurell G, Kingma H, Grill E. Worldwide survey on laboratory testing of vestibular function. Neurol Clin Pract. 2020;10(5):379-87.
- 81. Weber KP, Aw ST, Todd MJ, McGarvie LA, Curthoys IS, Halmagyi GM. Head impulse test in unilateral vestibular loss: vestibulo-ocular reflex and catch-up saccades. Neurology. 2008;70(6):454-63.

- 82. Robinson DA. A method of measuring eye movemnent using a scieral search coil in a magnetic field. IEEE Transactions on bio-medical electronics. 1963;10(4):137-45.
- Macdougall HG, McGarvie LA, Halmagyi GM, Curthoys IS, Weber KP. The video Head Impulse Test (vHIT) detects vertical semicircular canal dysfunction. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e61488.
- 84. Janky KL, Patterson JN, Shepard NT, Thomas MLA, Honaker JA. Effects of Device on Video Head Impulse Test (vHIT) Gain. J Am Acad Audiol. 2017;28(9):778-85.
- 85. McGarvie LA, MacDougall HG, Halmagyi GM, Burgess AM, Weber KP, Curthoys IS. The Video Head Impulse Test (vHIT) of Semicircular Canal Function - Age-Dependent Normative Values of VOR Gain in Healthy Subjects. Front Neurol. 2015;6:154.
- Alfarghal M, Algarni MA, Sinha SK, Nagarajan A. VOR gain of lateral semicircular canal using video head impulse test in acute unilateral vestibular hypofunction: A systematic review. Front Neurol. 2022;13:948462.
- Wittmeyer Cedervall L, Magnusson M, Karlberg M, Fransson PA, Nystrom A, Tjernstrom F. vHIT Testing of Vertical Semicircular Canals With Goggles Yield Different Results Depending on Which Canal Plane Being Tested. Front Neurol. 2021;12:692196.
- 88. Grossman GE, Leigh RJ, Bruce EN, Huebner WP, Lanska DJ. Performance of the human vestibuloocular reflex during locomotion. J Neurophysiol. 1989;62(1):264-72.
- 89. Antonsson EK, Mann RW. The frequency content of gait. Journal of Biomechanics. 1985;18(1):39-47.
- Grossman GE, Leigh RJ, Abel LA, Lanska DJ, Thurston SE. Frequency and velocity of rotational head perturbations during locomotion. Experimental Brain Research. 1988;70(3):470-6.
- 91. Blanks RHI, Curthoys IS, Markham CH. Planar Relationships Of The Semicircular Canals In Man. Acta Oto-Laryngologica. 1975;80(1-6):185-96.
- 92. Curthoys IS, McGarvie LA, MacDougall HG, Burgess AM, Halmagyi GM, Rey-Martinez J, et al. A review of the geometrical basis and the principles underlying the use and interpretation of the video head impulse test (vHIT) in clinical vestibular testing. Front Neurol. 2023;14:1147253.
- 93. Mantokoudis G, Saber Tehrani AS, Kattah JC, Eibenberger K, Guede CI, Zee DS, et al. Quantifying the vestibulo-ocular reflex with video-oculography: nature and frequency of artifacts. Audiol Neurootol. 2015;20(1):39-50.
- Suh MW, Park JH, Kang SI, Lim JH, Park MK, Kwon SK. Effect of Goggle Slippage on the Video Head Impulse Test Outcome and Its Mechanisms. Otol Neurotol. 2017;38(1):102-9.
- 95. Yoon H-J, Lee J-H, Lee J-H, Park E, Lee S-U, Kim B-J, et al. Effects of pupil size in video head-impulse tests. Journal of Neurology. 2024;271(2):819-25.
- 96. Longridge NS, Mallinson AI. The Dynamic Illegible E-test: A Technique for Assessing the Vestibulo-ocular Reflex. Acta Oto-Laryngologica. 1987;103(3-4):273-9.
- 97. Herdman SJ, Tusa RJ, Blatt P, Suzuki A, Venuto PJ, Roberts D. Computerized dynamic visual acuity test in the assessment of vestibular deficits. Am J Otol. 1998;19(6):790-6.
- 98. Ramat S, Colnaghi S, Boehler A, Astore S, Falco P, Mandala M, et al. A Device for the Functional Evaluation of the VOR in Clinical Settings. Front Neurol. 2012;3:39.

- 99. Fong E, Li C, Aslakson R, Agrawal Y. Systematic review of patient-reported outcome measures in clinical vestibular research. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96(2):357-65.
- 100. Jacobson GP, Newman CW. The development of the Dizziness Handicap Inventory. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1990;116(4):424-7.
- 101. Jarlsäter S, Mattsson E. Test of reliability of the Dizziness Handicap Inventory and The Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale for Use in Sweden. Advances in Physiotherapy. 2003;5(3):137-44.
- 102. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983;67(6):361-70.
- 103. Lisspers J, Nygren A, Söderman E. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HAD): some psychometric data for a Swedish sample. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1997;96(4):281-6.
- 104. Jamieson S. Likert scales: how to (ab)use them. Med Educ. 2004;38(12):1217-8.
- 105. Tschan R, Best C, Beutel ME, Knebel A, Wiltink J, Dieterich M, et al. Patients' psychological well-being and resilient coping protect from secondary somatoform vertigo and dizziness (SVD) 1 year after vestibular disease. Journal of Neurology. 2011;258(1):104-12.
- 106. Cullen KE, Minor LB, Beraneck M, Sadeghi SG. Neural substrates underlying vestibular compensation: contribution of peripheral versus central processing. J Vestib Res. 2009;19(5-6):171-82.
- 107. Manzari L, Burgess AM, MacDougall HG, Curthoys IS. Vestibular function after vestibular neuritis. Int J Audiol. 2013;52(10):713-8.
- Lacour M, Helmchen C, Vidal PP. Vestibular compensation: the neuro-otologist's best friend. J Neurol. 2016;263 Suppl 1:S54-64.
- 109. Okinaka Y, Sekitani T, Okazaki H, Miura M, Tahara T. Progress of caloric response of vestibular neuronitis. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl. 1993;503:18-22.
- 110. Strupp M, Zingler VC, Arbusow V, Niklas D, Maag KP, Dieterich M, et al. Methylprednisolone, valacyclovir, or the combination for vestibular neuritis. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(4):354-61.
- 111. Shupak A, Issa A, Golz A, Margalit K, Braverman I. Prednisone treatment for vestibular neuritis. Otol Neurotol. 2008;29(3):368-74.
- 112. Yoo MH, Yang CJ, Kim SA, Park MJ, Ahn JH, Chung JW, et al. Efficacy of steroid therapy based on symptomatic and functional improvement in patients with vestibular neuritis: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2017;274(6):2443-51.
- 113. Campos Torres A, Vidal PP, de Waele C. Evidence for a microglial reaction within the vestibular and cochlear nuclei following inner ear lesion in the rat. Neuroscience. 1999;92(4):1475-90.
- 114. Lacour M, Tighilet B. Plastic events in the vestibular nuclei during vestibular compensation: the brain orchestration of a "deafferentation" code. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 2010;28(1):19-35.
- 115. Rastoldo G, El Mahmoudi N, Marouane E, Pericat D, Watabe I, Toneto A, et al. Adult and endemic neurogenesis in the vestibular nuclei after unilateral vestibular neurectomy. Prog Neurobiol. 2021;196:101899.

- 116. Liberge M, Manrique C, Bernard-Demanze L, Lacour M. Changes in TNFα, NFκB and MnSOD protein in the vestibular nuclei after unilateral vestibular deafferentation. J Neuroinflammation. 2010;7:91.
- 117. McCabe BF, Ryu JH. Experiments on vestibular compensation. Laryngoscope. 1969;79(10):1728-36.
- 118. Bergquist F, Ludwig M, Dutia MB. Role of the commissural inhibitory system in vestibular compensation in the rat. J Physiol. 2008;586(18):4441-52.
- 119. Smith PF. Why the cerebellar shutdown/clampdown hypothesis of vestibular compensation is inconsistent with neurophysiological evidence. J Vestib Res. 2020;30(5):295-303.
- 120. Zwergal A, Schlichtiger J, Xiong G, Beck R, Günther L, Schniepp R, et al. Sequential [18F]FDG μPET whole-brain imaging of central vestibular compensation: a model of deafferentation-induced brain plasticity. Brain Structure and Function. 2016;221(1):159-70.
- 121. Tadashi Kitahara MFNTTSTK. Effects of Pre-flocculectomy on Fos Expression and NMDA Receptor-mediated Neural Circuits in the Central Vestibular System after Unilateral Labyrinthectomy. Acta Oto-Laryngologica. 2000;120(7):866-71.
- 122. Courjon JH, Flandrin JM, Jeannerod M, Schmid R. The role of the flocculus in vestibular compensation after hemilabyrinthectomy. Brain Res. 1982;239(1):251-7.
- Beraneck M, McKee JL, Aleisa M, Cullen KE. Asymmetric recovery in cerebellardeficient mice following unilateral labyrinthectomy. J Neurophysiol. 2008;100(2):945-58.
- 124. Curthoys IS. Vestibular compensation and substitution. Curr Opin Neurol. 2000;13(1):27-30.
- 125. Dutheil S, Brezun JM, Leonard J, Lacour M, Tighilet B. Neurogenesis and astrogenesis contribution to recovery of vestibular functions in the adult cat following unilateral vestibular neurectomy: cellular and behavioral evidence. Neuroscience. 2009;164(4):1444-56.
- 126. Tighilet B, Brezun JM, Sylvie GD, Gaubert C, Lacour M. New neurons in the vestibular nuclei complex after unilateral vestibular neurectomy in the adult cat. Eur J Neurosci. 2007;25(1):47-58.
- 127. Dieringer N, Precht W. Mechanisms of compensation for vestibular deficits in the frog. Experimental Brain Research. 1979;36(2):311-28.
- 128. Lacour M, Barthelemy J, Borel L, Magnan J, Xerri C, Chays A, et al. Sensory strategies in human postural control before and after unilateral vestibular neurotomy. Exp Brain Res. 1997;115(2):300-10.
- 129. Tjernström F, Fransson PA, Kahlon B, Karlberg M, Lindberg S, Siesjö P, et al. Different Visual Weighting due to Fast or Slow Vestibular Deafferentation: Before and after Schwannoma Surgery. Neural Plast. 2019;2019:4826238.
- Borello-France DF, Gallagher JD, Redfern M, Furman JM, Carvell GE. Voluntary movement strategies of individuals with unilateral peripheral vestibular hypofunction. J Vestib Res. 1999;9(4):265-75.
- 131. Tian J, Crane BT, Demer JL. Vestibular catch-up saccades in labyrinthine deficiency. Exp Brain Res. 2000;131(4):448-57.

- 132. Gaymard B. Cortical and sub-cortical control of saccades and clinical application. Revue Neurologique. 2012;168(10):734-40.
- 133. Black RA, Halmagyi GM, Thurtell MJ, Todd MJ, Curthoys IS. The Active Head-Impulse Test in Unilateral Peripheral Vestibulopathy. Archives of Neurology. 2005;62(2):290-3.
- 134. Tian JR, Shubayev I, Demer JL. Dynamic visual acuity during passive and selfgenerated transient head rotation in normal and unilaterally vestibulopathic humans. Exp Brain Res. 2002;142(4):486-95.
- 135. Hermann R, Pelisson D, Dumas O, Urquizar C, Truy E, Tilikete C. Are Covert Saccade Functionally Relevant in Vestibular Hypofunction? The Cerebellum. 2018;17(3):300-7.
- 136. Ramaioli C, Colagiorgio P, Saglam M, Heuser F, Schneider E, Ramat S, et al. The effect of vestibulo-ocular reflex deficits and covert saccades on dynamic vision in opioid-induced vestibular dysfunction. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e110322.
- 137. Mantokoudis G, Schubert MC, Tehrani ASS, Wong AL, Agrawal Y. Early adaptation and compensation of clinical vestibular responses after unilateral vestibular deafferentation surgery. Otology & amp; neurotology : official publication of the American Otological Society, American Neurotology Society [and] European Academy of Otology and Neurotology. 2014;35(1):148-54.
- 138. Macdougall HG, Curthoys IS. Plasticity during Vestibular Compensation: The Role of Saccades. Front Neurol. 2012;3:21.
- 139. Van Nechel C, Bostan A, Duquesne U, Hautefort C, Toupet M. Visual Input Is the Main Trigger and Parametric Determinant for Catch-Up Saccades During Video Head Impulse Test in Bilateral Vestibular Loss. Front Neurol. 2018;9:1138.
- Sadeghi SG, Minor LB, Cullen KE. Neural correlates of sensory substitution in vestibular pathways following complete vestibular loss. J Neurosci. 2012;32(42):14685-95.
- 141. Lacour M. Restoration of vestibular function: basic aspects and practical advances for rehabilitation. Curr Med Res Opin. 2006;22(9):1651-9.
- 142. Bracken MB, Shepard MJ, Collins WF, Holford TR, Young W, Baskin DS, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of methylprednisolone or naloxone in the treatment of acute spinal-cord injury. Results of the Second National Acute Spinal Cord Injury Study. N Engl J Med. 1990;322(20):1405-11.
- 143. Smolen JS, Landewe RBM, Bergstra SA, Kerschbaumer A, Sepriano A, Aletaha D, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2022 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2023;82(1):3-18.
- 144. Tighilet B, Manrique C, Lacour M. Stress axis plasticity during vestibular compensation in the adult cat. Neuroscience. 2009;160(4):716-30.
- 145. Yamanaka T, Sasa M, Amano T, Miyahara H, Matsunaga T. Role of glucocorticoid in vestibular compensation in relation to activation of vestibular nucleus neurons. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl. 1995;519:168-72.
- 146. Gilchrist DP, Darlington CL, Smith PF. Evidence that short ACTH fragments enhance vestibular compensation via direct action on the ipsilateral vestibular nucleus. Neuroreport. 1996;7(9):1489-92.

- 147. El Mahmoudi N, Rastoldo G, Marouane E, Péricat D, Watabe I, Tonetto A, et al. Breaking a dogma: acute anti-inflammatory treatment alters both post-lesional functional recovery and endogenous adaptive plasticity mechanisms in a rodent model of acute peripheral vestibulopathy. J Neuroinflammation. 2021;18(1):183.
- 148. Goudakos JK, Markou KD, Psillas G, Vital V, Tsaligopoulos M. Corticosteroids and vestibular exercises in vestibular neuritis. Single-blind randomized clinical trial. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2014;140(5):434-40.
- 149. Karlberg ML, Magnusson M. Treatment of acute vestibular neuronitis with glucocorticoids. Otol Neurotol. 2011;32(7):1140-3.
- 150. Ohbayashi S, Oda M, Yamamoto M, Urano M, Harada K, Horikoshi H, et al. Recovery of the vestibular function after vestibular neuronitis. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl. 1993;503:31-4.
- 151. Kitahara T, Kondoh K, Morihana T, Okumura S, Horii A, Takeda N, et al. Steroid effects on vestibular compensation in human. Neurol Res. 2003;25(3):287-91.
- 152. Ismail EI, Morgan AE, Abdel Rahman AM. Corticosteroids versus vestibular rehabilitation in long-term outcomes in vestibular neuritis. J Vestib Res. 2018;28(5-6):417-24.
- 153. Yamashita H ST, Okami K, Endo S. Evaluation of steroid therapy for vestibular neuronitis. Bull Yamaguchu Med Sch. 1989;36:37-41.
- 154. Ariyasu L, Byl FM, Sprague MS, Adour KK. The beneficial effect of methylprednisolone in acute vestibular vertigo. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1990;116(6):700-3.
- 155. Batuecas-Caletrio A, Yanez-Gonzalez R, Sanchez-Blanco C, Perez PB, Gonzalez-Sanchez E, Sanchez LA, et al. Glucocorticoids improve acute dizziness symptoms following acute unilateral vestibulopathy. J Neurol. 2015;262(11):2578-82.
- 156. Rezaie AA HF, Rezaie N. . Corticosteroids effect on vestibular
- neuritis symptom relief. . Pak J Med Sci. 2006;22:409-11.
- 157. Kim JC, Cha WW, Chang DS, Lee HY. The Effect of Intravenous Dexamethasone on the Nausea Accompanying Vestibular Neuritis: A Preliminary Study. Clin Ther. 2015;37(11):2536-42.
- 158. Adamec I, Krbot Skoric M, Gabelic T, Barun B, Ljevak J, Bujan Kovac A, et al. Intravenous dexamethasone in acute management of vestibular neuritis: a randomized, placebo-controlled, single-blind trial. Eur J Emerg Med. 2016;23(5):363-9.
- 159. Gagyor I, Madhok VB, Daly F, Sullivan F. Antiviral treatment for Bell's palsy (idiopathic facial paralysis). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2019(9).
- 160. Axelsson S, Berg T, Jonsson L, Engstrom M, Kanerva M, Pitkaranta A, et al. Prednisolone in Bell's palsy related to treatment start and age. Otol Neurotol. 2011;32(1):141-6.
- Buchman AL. Side effects of corticosteroid therapy. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2001;33(4):289-94.
- 162. Goudakos JK, Markou KD, Franco-Vidal V, Vital V, Tsaligopoulos M, Darrouzet V. Corticosteroids in the treatment of vestibular neuritis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Otol Neurotol. 2010;31(2):183-9.

- 163. Fishman JM, Burgess C, Waddell A. Corticosteroids for the treatment of idiopathic acute vestibular dysfunction (vestibular neuritis). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011(5):Cd008607.
- 164. Wegner I, van Benthem PP, Aarts MC, Bruintjes TD, Grolman W, van der Heijden GJ. Insufficient evidence for the effect of corticosteroid treatment on recovery of vestibular neuritis. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012;147(5):826-31.
- 165. Solis RN, Sun DQ, Tatro E, Hansen MR. Do steroids improve recovery in vestibular neuritis? Laryngoscope. 2019;129(2):288-90.
- 166. Leong KJ, Lau T, Stewart V, Canetti EFD. Systematic Review and Meta-analysis: Effectiveness of Corticosteroids in Treating Adults With Acute Vestibular Neuritis. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2021;165(2):255-66.
- 167. Kim G, Seo JH, Lee SJ, Lee DH. Therapeutic effect of steroids on vestibular neuritis: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Otolaryngol. 2022;47(1):34-43.
- 168. Bogdanova A, Dlugaiczyk J, Heckmann JG, Schwab S. Corticosteroids in patients with vestibular neuritis: An updated meta-analysis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2022;146(5):429-39.
- 169. Strupp M, Kern NL, Laurell G, Lehner L, Grill E, Strobl R. World-wide survey on the treatment of peripheral vestibular disorders. Front Neurol. 2025;16:1540443.
- 170. McDonnell MN, Hillier SL. Vestibular rehabilitation for unilateral peripheral vestibular dysfunction. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(1).
- 171. Teggi R, Caldirola D, Fabiano B, Recanati P, Bussi M. Rehabilitation after acute vestibular disorders. J Laryngol Otol. 2009;123(4):397-402.
- 172. Venosa AR, Bittar RS. Vestibular rehabilitation exercises in acute vertigo. Laryngoscope. 2007;117(8):1482-7.
- 173. Hidayati HB, Imania HAN, Octaviana DS, Kurniawan RB, Wungu CDK, Rida Ariarini NN, et al. Vestibular Rehabilitation Therapy and Corticosteroids for Vestibular Neuritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Medicina (Kaunas). 2022;58(9).
- 174. Herzog N, Allum JHJ, Probst R. Verlauf der kalorischen Erregbarkeit nach akuter peripherer vestibulärer Funktionsstörung. HNO. 1997;45(3):123-7.
- 175. Schneider E, Villgrattner T, Vockeroth J, Bartl K, Kohlbecher S, Bardins S, et al. EyeSeeCam: an eye movement-driven head camera for the examination of natural visual exploration. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009;1164:461-7.
- 176. Murnane O, Mabrey H, Pearson A, Byrd S, Akin F. Normative data and test-retest reliability of the SYNAPSYS video head impulse test. J Am Acad Audiol. 2014;25(3):244-52.
- 177. Colagiorgio P, Colnaghi S, Versino M, Ramat S. A New Tool for Investigating the Functional Testing of the VOR. Front Neurol. 2013;4:165.
- 178. Bruner M, Chilla R, Vollrath M. [Treatment of acute idiopathic vestibular paresis (author's transl)]. Laryngol Rhinol Otol (Stuttg). 1977;56(7):619-23.
- 179. Revol RG, J-P.; Crisan, H.; Maire, R.; Van de Berg, R.; Pérez Fornos, A.; Guinand, N. Glucocorticosteroid Treatment in Acute Unilateral Vestibulopathy, a Randomized, Double-blind, Placebo-controlled Study. Bárány Society meeting; 240827; Uppsala2024.

- Mom R, Réty S, Mocquet V, Auguin D. In silico pharmacological study of AQP2 inhibition by steroids contextualized to Ménière's disease treatments. Front Neurol. 2023;14:1270092.
- Patel M. Intratympanic corticosteroids in Ménière's disease: A mini-review. Journal of Otology. 2017;12(3):117-24.
- 182. Shafshak TS, Essa AY, Bakey FA. The possible contributing factors for the success of steroid therapy in Bell's palsy: a clinical and electrophysiological study. J Laryngol Otol. 1994;108(11):940-3.
- 183. Henzi I, Walder B, Tramèr MR. Dexamethasone for the Prevention of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting: A Quantitative Systematic Review. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2000;90(1).
- 184. Alessio-Mazzola M, D'Andrea G, Abu-Mukh A, Mosca S, Placella G, Salini V. Effect of systemic steroids administration in the clinical outcome of total hip arthroplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective randomized controlled trials. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2024;145(1):78.
- 185. McCaslin DL, Jacobson GP, Bennett ML, Gruenwald JM, Green AP. Predictive properties of the video head impulse test: measures of caloric symmetry and self-report dizziness handicap. Ear Hear. 2014;35(5):e185-91.
- 186. Yip CW, Strupp M. The Dizziness Handicap Inventory does not correlate with vestibular function tests: a prospective study. Journal of Neurology. 2018;265(5):1210-8.
- 187. Patel M, Arshad Q, Roberts RE, Ahmad H, Bronstein AM. Chronic Symptoms After Vestibular Neuritis and the High-Velocity Vestibulo-Ocular Reflex. Otol Neurotol. 2016;37(2):179-84.
- 188. Bergenius J, Perols O. Vestibular neuritis: a follow-up study. Acta Otolaryngol. 1999;119(8):895-9.
- 189. Hróbjartsson A, Gøtzsche PC. Placebo interventions for all clinical conditions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;2010(1):Cd003974.
- 190. Waljee AK, Rogers MA, Lin P, Singal AG, Stein JD, Marks RM, et al. Short term use of oral corticosteroids and related harms among adults in the United States: population based cohort study. Bmj. 2017;357:j1415.
- 191. Warrington TP, Bostwick JM. Psychiatric Adverse Effects of Corticosteroids. Mayo Clinic Proceedings. 2006;81(10):1361-7.
- 192. Beck R, Günther L, Xiong G, Potschka H, Böning G, Bartenstein P, et al. The mixed blessing of treating symptoms in acute vestibular failure — Evidence from a 4aminopyridine experiment. Experimental Neurology. 2014;261:638-45.
- 193. Shin M KC, Choi JE, Jung JY, Lee MY. Does dimenhydrinate delay recovery of vestibular ocular reflex in acute unilateral vestibulopathy? A retrospective comparative study. Res Vestib Sci. 2024;23(3):89-94.
- 194. Della Santina CC, Cremer PD, Carey JP, Minor LB. Comparison of head thrust test with head autorotation test reveals that the vestibulo-ocular reflex is enhanced during voluntary head movements. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2002;128(9):1044-54.
- 195. Peng GC, Minor LB, Zee DS. Gaze position corrective eye movements in normal subjects and in patients with vestibular deficits. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1039:337-48.

- 196. Mantokoudis G, Agrawal Y, Newman-Toker DE, Xie L, Saber Tehrani AS, Wong A, et al. Compensatory saccades benefit from prediction during head impulse testing in early recovery from vestibular deafferentation. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2016;273(6):1379-85.
- 197. Colagiorgio P, Versino M, Colnaghi S, Quaglieri S, Manfrin M, Zamaro E, et al. New insights into vestibular-saccade interaction based on covert corrective saccades in patients with unilateral vestibular deficits. J Neurophysiol. 2017;117(6):2324-38.
- 198. Kerkeni H, Zee DS, Korda A, Morrison M, Mantokoudis G, Ramat S. Corrective saccades in acute vestibular neuritis: studying the role of prediction with automated passively induced head impulses. J Neurophysiol. 2023;129(2):445-54.
- 199. Leigh RJ, Zee DS, Leigh RJ, Zee DS. 169The Saccadic System. The Neurology of Eye Movements: Oxford University Press; 2015. p. 0.
- 200. Aantaa E, Virolainen E. Vestibular neuronitis; a follow-up study. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Belg. 1979;33(3):401-4.
- 201. Matsuo T, Sekitani T. Vestibular neuronitis: neurotological findings and progress. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec. 1985;47(4):199-206.
- 202. Schmid-Priscoveanu A, Böhmer A, Obzina H, Straumann D. Caloric and search-coil head-impulse testing in patients after vestibular neuritis. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol. 2001;2(1):72-8.
- 203. McGarvie LA, MacDougall HG, Curthoys IS, Halmagyi GM. Spontaneous Recovery of the Vestibulo-Ocular Reflex After Vestibular Neuritis; Long-Term Monitoring With the Video Head Impulse Test in a Single Patient. Front Neurol. 2020;11:732.
- 204. Guo P, Zhao J, Jia G, Li H, Li W. Dynamic change of vestibular function and the long-term prognosis of vestibular neuritis. J Vestib Res. 2023;33(6):411-22.
- 205. Dieringer N, Precht W. Mechanisms of compensation for vestibular deficits in the frog. Experimental Brain Research. 1979;36(2):329-41.
- 206. Coleman ER, Moudgal R, Lang K, Hyacinth HI, Awosika OO, Kissela BM, et al. Early Rehabilitation After Stroke: a Narrative Review. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2017;19(12):59.
- 207. Herdman SJ, Clendaniel RA, Mattox DE, Holliday MJ, Niparko JK. Vestibular adaptation exercises and recovery: acute stage after acoustic neuroma resection. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1995;113(1):77-87.
- 208. Vereeck L, Wuyts FL, Truijen S, De Valck C, Van de Heyning PH. The effect of early customized vestibular rehabilitation on balance after acoustic neuroma resection. Clinical Rehabilitation. 2008;22(8):698-713.
- 209. Michel L, Laurent T, Alain T. Rehabilitation of dynamic visual acuity in patients with unilateral vestibular hypofunction: earlier is better. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2020;277(1):103-13.
- 210. Agger-Nielsen HE, Grøndberg TS, Berg-Beckhoff G, Ovesen T. Early vestibular rehabilitation training of peripheral acute vestibular syndrome-a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Neurol. 2024;15:1396891.
- 211. Psillas G, Petrou I, Printza A, Sfakianaki I, Binos P, Anastasiadou S, et al. Video Head Impulse Test (vHIT): Value of Gain and Refixation Saccades in Unilateral Vestibular Neuritis. J Clin Med. 2022;11(12).

- 212. Esteban-Sanchez J, Martin-Sanz E. Long-Term Evolution of Vestibular Compensation, Postural Control, and Perceived Disability in a Population of Patients with Vestibular Neuritis. J Clin Med. 2022;11(14).
- 213. Batuecas-Caletrio A, Santacruz-Ruiz S, Munoz-Herrera A, Perez-Fernandez N. The vestibulo-ocular reflex and subjective balance after vestibular schwannoma surgery. Laryngoscope. 2014;124(6):1431-5.
- 214. Batuecas-Caletrio A, Rey-Martinez J, Trinidad-Ruiz G, Matino-Soler E, Cruz-Ruiz SS, Munoz-Herrera A, et al. Vestibulo-Ocular Reflex Stabilization after Vestibular Schwannoma Surgery: A Story Told by Saccades. Front Neurol. 2017;8:15.
- 215. Eravcı FC, Yılmaz M, Uğur MB, Tutar H, Karamert R, Şansal E, et al. The Relationship of Vestibulo-Ocular Reflex With Self-Reported Dizziness Handicap in Patients With Vestibular Deafferentation. Ear, Nose & Throat Journal. 2021;100(6):NP299-NP307.
- 216. Pogson JM, Taylor RL, Bradshaw AP, McGarvie L, D'Souza M, Flanagan S, et al. The human vestibulo-ocular reflex and compensatory saccades in schwannoma patients before and after vestibular nerve section. Clin Neurophysiol. 2022;138:197-213.
- 217. Navari E, Cerchiai N, Casani AP. Assessment of Vestibulo-ocular Reflex Gain and Catch-up Saccades During Vestibular Rehabilitation. Otol Neurotol. 2018;39(10):e1111-e7.
- 218. Cerchiai N, Navari E, Sellari-Franceschini S, Re C, Casani AP. Predicting the Outcome after Acute Unilateral Vestibulopathy: Analysis of Vestibulo-ocular Reflex Gain and Catch-up Saccades. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2018;158(3):527-33.
- 219. Pogson JM, Taylor RL, McGarvie LA, Bradshaw AP, D'Souza M, Flanagan S, et al. Head impulse compensatory saccades: Visual dependence is most evident in bilateral vestibular loss. PLoS One. 2020;15(1):e0227406.
- 220. Hermann R, Ramat S, Colnaghi S, Lagadec V, Desoche C, Pelisson D, et al. Catch-Up Saccades in Vestibulo-Ocular Reflex Deficit: Contribution of Visual Information? Ear Hear. 2024.
- 221. Iwasaki S, Kamogashira T, Fujimoto C, Kabaya K, Kinoshita M, Yamasoba T. The Role of Neck Input in Producing Corrective Saccades in the Head Impulse Test. Front Neurol. 2022;13:881411.
- 222. Schubert MC, Della Santina CC, Shelhamer M. Incremental angular vestibulo-ocular reflex adaptation to active head rotation. Experimental Brain Research. 2008;191(4):435-46.
- 223. Schubert MC, Migliaccio AA, Clendaniel RA, Allak A, Carey JP. Mechanism of Dynamic Visual Acuity Recovery With Vestibular Rehabilitation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2008;89(3):500-7.
- 224. Schubert MC, Mantokoudis G, Xie L, Agrawal Y. Acute VOR gain differences for outward vs. inward head impulses. J Vestib Res. 2014;24(5-6):397-402.
- 225. Halmagyi GM, Curthoys IS, Cremer PD, Henderson CJ, Todd MJ, Staples MJ, et al. The human horizontal vestibulo-ocular reflex in response to high-acceleration stimulation before and after unilateral vestibular neurectomy. Experimental Brain Research. 1990;81(3):479-90.

- 226. Kitama T, Ohki Y, Shimazu H, Tanaka M, Yoshida K. Site of interaction between saccade signals and vestibular signals induced by head rotation in the alert cat: functional properties and afferent organization of burster-driving neurons. J Neurophysiol. 1995;74(1):273-87.
- 227. Willett SM, Maenner SK, Mayo JP. The perceptual consequences and neurophysiology of eye blinks. Front Syst Neurosci. 2023;17:1242654.
- 228. Ciocca M, Hosli S, Hadi Z, Mahmud M, Tai YF, Seemungal BM. Vestibular prepulse inhibition of the human blink reflex. Clin Neurophysiol. 2024;167:1-11.
- 229. Kofler M, Hallett M, Domenico Iannetti G, Versace V, Ellrich J, Tellez MJ, et al. Erratum to "The blink reflex and its modulation - Part 1: Physiological mechanisms" [Clin. Neurophysiol. 160 (2024) 130-152]. Clin Neurophysiol. 2024;163:292.